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Map 4. Napoleon’s Second Italian Campaign, 1800











[image: ]

Map 5. Europe in 1804

























PLATES




[image: ]










1 Young Napoleon. Photo 12/Fondation Napoléon


2 Letizia Bonaparte, Napoleon’s mother. Photo 12/Fondation Napoléon


3 Carlo Bonaparte, Napoleon’s father. Photo 12/Fondation Napoléon


4 Joseph Bonaparte. Photo 12/Fondation Napoléon


5 Lucien Bonaparte. Photo 12/Fondation Napoléon


6 Paoli and Napoleon. Bibliothèque Nationale, Paris/Archives Charmet/The Bridgeman Art Library


7 The Bonapartes’ flight from Corsica. Photo 12/Fondation Napoléon


8 Battle of the Pyramids. Photo 12/Fondation Napoléon


9 Battle of Marengo. Photo 12/Fondation Napoléon


10 Napoleon and Josephine, after Jacques-Louis David. Photo 12/Fondation Napoléon


11 Paul Barras. Photo 12/Fondation Napoléon


12 Hortense, Napoleon’s step-daughter. Photo 12/Fondation Napoléon


13 Napoleon and the Council of the 500 at St-Cloud, by François Bouchot. Chateau de Versailles, France/Giraudon/The Bridgeman Art Library


14 Napoleon as First Consul, by Jean Auguste Dominique Ingres. Musee d’Art Moderne et d’Art Contemporain, Liege, Belgium/Giraudon/The Bridgeman Art Library





15 Sketch by Jacques-Louis David of Napoleon crowning himself. Musée du Louvre


16 Napoleon in his coronation robes, by Jean Auguste Dominique Ingres. Musee d’Art Moderne et d’Art Contemporain, Liege, Belgium/Giraudon/The Bridgeman Art Library


17 Le Sacre, study by Jacques-Louis David. Photo 12/Fondation Napoléon






















INTRODUCTION


THE FORCE OF DESTINY
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Liberty, Equality, Ambition







No, Monsieur the Count, you will not have her … you shall not. Because you are a great lord, you think yourself a great genius! … Nobility, fortune, rank, office, all this makes you so haughty! What have you done to have so much? You took the trouble to be born, nothing more. For all that, you are but an ordinary man; as much as me, sod it! Lost in an obscure crowd, I have had to use knowledge and every calculation just to survive … and you want to fight!1


 


… glad only that … I could do my duty by him … at my own risk. This I did all the time with an honesty and zeal, and a courage which deserved a better reward from him than in the end I obtained … He was so incapable of self-control that even on a Saturday, the day on which almost all the couriers left, he could not wait for the work to be finished before going out, and continually urged me to hurry with the royal and ministerial dispatches, which he hastily signed before running off somewhere or other, leaving the majority of the letters without his signature … it was necessary that someone should sign them, and I did so myself … I endured his slights, his brutality, and his ill-treatment with patience … But as soon as I saw he intended to deprive me of the honour I deserved for my good service, I resolved to resign.2





The first quotation above is the soliloquy of Figaro, the crafty, highly intelligent and ill-treated factotum of a brutal, dim, Spanish aristocrat, from the 1781 stage play, The Marriage of Figaro, by Alexandre de Beaumarchais. The next excerpt is Jean-Jacques Rousseau’s account of his ill-treatment by another silly, arrogant nobleman, the French ambassador to Venice, while Rousseau was his secretary in 1743. It comes from his autobiography, The Confessions, written in 1765, but not published until 1781. The Marriage of Figaro and The Confessions were two of the greatest sensations of the 1780s, and among the very last great literary offerings of the old European order, before it was smashed into tiny pieces by the French Revolution of 1789. They were both quickly banned in France, but not before the damage was done.3


The eighteenth century had produced reams of serious literature on politics and society that strove to be subversive, propounding visions of new orders and lambasting the status quo, but none matched these two works in the chord they struck with the reading public, as the authorities were quick to spot, for they touched the nerves of many angry men, usually young ones. Louis XVI, the French king, had initially loved Beaumarchais’ play for the fun it poked at an aristocracy whose obstinate refusal to surrender its independence frustrated him, but his advisers soon pointed out that Figaro made no subtle distinctions when it came to contempt for authority. Mozart’s opera, based on the Beaumarchais play, met a similar fate in Vienna, where its performances were soon halted by Joseph II, who was the self-proclaimed most aggressive reforming monarch in Europe, but whose patience was tried beyond the limits by so candid an assault on the basic intelligence of a nobility he, more than Louis, found a nuisance. Beaumarchais knew that the joke was on them all, and that it was dangerous because it sneered back, rather than whined. Indeed, it was a classic example of going beyond a joke. There is swagger in Figaro’s salvo, an arrogance based on hard fact, more dangerous than any cry of pain. Beaumarchais and Rousseau proposed something that was more dangerous than righteous indignation at the inequalities sustained by aristocratic privilege; they ventured a vision of society that was far more redolent of danger for those in power than a rage at social or economic injustice. This was not the righteous rage of the weak, but the defiance of those set on becoming the new masters. First Figaro, and then Rousseau, dared to say that their masters were not just cruel and callous, but that they were stupid. Next, they asserted that they, the ‘doers’, were more intelligent, and that it was simply stupid to obey the stupid.


Beaumarchais’ Figaro and Rousseau knew they could do things better than their betters, as it were, and looked down on them. The goal was not to free the world, but to rise in it, to take it over, and then to exterminate those in power less because they were unjust, than because they were dimwits. It was talent that mattered, not the privilege of birth, yet those foolish enough not to see this – the mass of the people – were as hopeless as the masters. The world should belong to the best and the bravest. Steven Englund has described the atmosphere exuded from Napoleon’s tomb in Les Invalides as ‘the awe-evoking sense of human possibility, which is a different thing from hope’.4 This was not about dreaming of justice; it was a question of seizing the day.


Awe was yet to come, but that sense of possibility – something less ethereal and altruistic than hope, liberty, equality or fraternity – burgeoned from the Figaro of Beaumarchais and the Rousseau of the Venice embassy. Men of this stamp were hardly ideologues, and so did not give the new political culture its new language of liberty, but they made it work, and they did so from self-interest based on confidence. Altruism came and went among them, but, as Robert Alexander has said of Napoleon, himself, ‘will and talent are the bedrock of the reputation’.5 They were the bedrock of the most potent element of the Revolution itself, and of the liberated generation it spawned. Ambition ruled Napoleon, and it was selfish. As Thibaudeau, one of his earliest supporters, put it, his genius was used only to serve his ego, his only passion was power, his mistress was France.6


Yet it is no less true that when he rose, all who wished to follow and had the talent to do so, rose with him. This was the Revolution – and the new Gospel – according to Napoleon. When ‘liberty, equality and fraternity’ had all frayed at the edges and been left behind by those who invented them, the Revolution’s early promise of the ‘career open to talent’ remained. When Napoleon said – possibly – that he found the crown of France lying in the gutter, picked it up and put it on, he took revenge for Figaro and Rousseau. All Rousseau could do, as he said, was resign and rail at society with his pen. Indeed, he went on to invent a political utopia in The Social Contract and write two best-selling maudlin novels, La Nouvelle Héloïse and Emile, both of which concluded that subservience was ‘the answer’. Figaro fared better, for this was fiction. He made a fool of his master and got his girl away from him through pure guile, but the happiness he cleverly contrived for himself and his beloved was purely personal: ‘I was poor and despised. I showed some spirit, the hatred has run its course. A pretty girl and a fortune!’ he can exult in the statutory happy ending.7 It took a seismic upheaval to make the step from the stage to power attainable for the likes of Figaro. The French Revolution made victory in the public sphere possible for such men, and Napoleon epitomised them. For men of this stamp, the Revolution was less an ideal, than a vehicle; and if its creators did not know how to drive it, any more than those they overthrew knew how to control the old order, there were men who ‘had to use knowledge and every calculation just to survive’, who could master the new order. If there was a word Napoleon clung to all his life, it was ‘destiny’, and if there is a word that encapsulates him, it is ‘ambition’. He gave both to the men of his generation, and their sons, who were prepared to follow him. The liberation brought about by the Revolution – whether deliberately, through its liberal legislation, or inadvertently, by the titanic war it unleashed – offered the ambitious their opening, but it was Napoleon’s ambition that turned these individual ambitions into a collective sense of destiny. ‘Destiny’ was his own, personal, contribution to his generation.


Many biographers and historians have accentuated the cynical and manipulative in Napoleon’s character, and they are not mistaken. He possessed these attributes in abundance, and it would be unrealistic to the point of absurdity to believe he could have survived his times without them, to say nothing of triumphing over them. Nevertheless, to put the accent on this side of his character, to the detriment of so much else, is to give both a false picture of the man and to render inexplicable his most lasting achievements. As Annie Jourdan has put it, ‘Napoleon sought the positive in everything.’8 When this is set beside his extraordinary energy, a more rounded and plausible person emerges, for Napoleon was a powerful creative force in the life of Europe, during his own time and long after. Only a positive, optimistic mind would have thought in terms of progressive reform to the degree Napoleon did all his public life. His optimism envisaged new, modern systems of justice, public administration and education; his energy made of them working realities in his own time, the strains of constant war notwithstanding. These systems and institutions are his living legacy, and have survived long after his military achievements were swept away in the last years of his rule.


The scope of this first volume encompasses the most energetic, creative period of his life, although he went on to achieve still more in the brief moment of near-complete peace in 1810–11, as well. His vision of a world after the Revolution, as well as beyond the ancien régime, sprang to life almost as soon as he came to power, first in Italy, and then in France. It did so with a speed and clarity that came from within him, as he absorbed and reformulated the many rich intellectual currents of his times. His ability to grasp so much, so quickly, was driven by an insatiable curiosity about the world around him. From his youth, Napoleon’s notebooks teemed with facts and ideas drawn from a remarkably wide range of reading. It has become almost a truism among historians that the last generation of educated Westerners able to absorb all essential learning was that which just preceded Napoleon’s. People such as Jefferson and Franklin in America, or Voltaire, or Catherine the Great of Russia were the last to be so fortunate. Napoleon was fighting a losing battle, but his efforts to emulate them in the face of rapidly expanding knowledge were as heroic as anything he displayed in war. He had much to learn, he knew it, and his energy and curiosity drove him on a quest of self-improvement to the very end of his life. This reached beyond the personal quest for knowledge. Napoleon transformed knowledge into reform, at blistering pace. This was not the work of a pure cynic; he cared about the future, in a wider sense than just his own reputation, although he certainly cared about that, too. If Napoleon’s reactions have the quality of quicksilver, of frenetic energy, the concrete reforms they gave birth to proved durable and exportable. This was quite unprecedented.


Napoleon’s life is a remarkable story, and its wonder of endless possibility – the awe Englund almost smells oozing from his tomb – emerges in the telling. No other man from such relatively humble beginnings had ever risen so high. However, more to the point, no such figure had become his own master, to say nothing of being the master of Europe. In this, Napoleon belonged to his generation, or to the most dynamic part of it, those who had seized the French Revolution by the throat and made it work for them. Where he went, he took his contemporaries with him. He began by sharing the restless ambition and the sneering, swaggering contempt for the old order with the like-minded, but by the time he marched on Austria in 1805, he had become their undisputed chief. The Revolution in France unwittingly opened the way for this, but no one had emerged with the personal capacity to seize the day, save Napoleon. The revolutionaries feared such a thing, and Napoleon often went to great pains, in these years, to disguise his ambitions, for they all had the example of the Roman Republic before them, hijacked from its patrician elite by Julius Caesar and, more effectively, by Octavian. Yet even the remote classical past could not quite provide an analogy for Napoleon. The Caesars were patricians among patricians; Napoleon was a Figaro among a generation of Figaros, who had seen off their old masters. His achievement looms all the larger because it came to pass in times of dangerous, unprecedented flux. It took more than energy, acute intelligence or ambition to triumph in this world.


Many who came to know Napoleon spoke of his self-control. Some, like Madame Junot, saw it as a virtue, others, Madame de Staël chief among them, felt it to be a dangerous, hypocritical mask which hid his egotism. Whatever its rationale, it was the product of iron self-discipline, for Napoleon was a man of powerful, often violent emotions, which makes it all the more impressive that his ‘extraordinary reserve’ was so remarked upon when he first entered the limelight of Parisian high politics on a daily basis, in the months before and after his seizure of power in 1799.9 Those in subservient – and therefore exposed – positions often know how to wear masks, as did Figaro and Rousseau, in front of their masters. Part of Napoleon’s ability to emerge as the head of this fraught political world stemmed directly from his capacity to hide the sneer and the swagger that the old regime had bred in him. Napoleon displayed all this in his rise to power, but his show of reserve to the world had deeper roots in his background. He came by it honestly. Caution was a central part of his character, and his particular Mediterranean origins gave him this schooling that more than once saved his life, as well as fuelled his success. The hero of Joseph Conrad’s masterpiece, Nostromo, was – like Napoleon – of Ligurian origin, drawn from a people known for their taciturn probity in equal measure to their expansive spirits and deep emotions. Ambition and passion had to be tempered with self-control. Conrad’s view of his central character – ‘that man could command himself even when thrown off his balance’10 – fitted Napoleon as well as the charismatic Gian Battista Fidanza of the novel. They were cut from the same cloth.


No one hated Napoleon more than Germaine de Staël, perhaps the most brilliant woman of her times, if also a dilettante born to ancien régime privilege. She was among the first to label him as power-hungry, although her repeated assertion that Napoleon was intrinsically tyrannical can hardly stand without a powerful effort of refutation. Nevertheless, Staël’s view of his seething impatience and energy, lurking under the cool, authoritative exterior, are as accurate and cutting as Napoleon’s own famous gaze. For Staël, Napoleon feigned intellectual curiosity to lull the intelligentsia into a false sense of security; he spoke of reconciliation and unity, while carefully constructing his support around factions he could play off against each other. Staël’s judgements must form a shrill counterpoint to Napoleon’s career. Many pages are needed to assess Staël’s verdict, but her grasp of a central element of his character is beyond dispute. Whether Napoleon ‘spoke with forked tongue’ or not is one matter; that he spoke calmly, amidst a sea of daggers, is undoubted. The precarious joust between passion and prudence was intrinsic to Napoleon’s character.


Passion – passionate loathing – always won out in Napoleon’s dealings with Staël, but while much ink has been spilled accounting for the bile she stirred in him, Napoleon’s detestation of Staël deserves more thought than it is given. This was more than a political or ideological contest, as important as this was for two such sharp minds, and it was certainly not a product of the groundless claim that Napoleon disliked ‘intellectual women’, a jibe repeated even by so powerful a mind as that of Pieter Geyl.11 His close relationship with his step-daughter, Hortense, his singular efforts in the realm of girls’ education, and the power he gave two of his sisters – Elisa, in Tuscany, and Caroline, in Naples – readily belie this. Napoleon viewed Staël in no small part with the eye of Figaro: she was a spoiled product of ancien régime privilege, the daughter of a powerful minister and financier, the wife of an aged aristocrat she played for a fool; she was just a ponce, however clever. To Napoleon, she was patronising the parvenu. As with Figaro, confrontation with such a creature could cloud the mind, but this was the exception to the rule.


Napoleon’s character was less complex than multifaceted. He was energetic, imaginative, optimistic and cynical as circumstances demanded; his personal ambition was boundless, yet so were his aspirations for the society he belonged to. There is much of Homer’s ‘sharp-eyed Odysseus’ in Napoleon. Both were quick-witted, observant, persuasive, and utterly ruthless; they were made so because success was all, and they came from cultures where failure meant obliteration. Theirs was a world with little room for manoeuvre, be it in the cave of the Cyclops or the political arena of revolutionary Paris. To make such a comparison across millennia is not facetious. Anthropologically, Odysseus and Napoleon were products of insular, Mediterranean elites: their respective worlds, although divided by centuries, were still set against and moulded by a geography that produced poverty, and fuelled ambitions that could only be fed by emigration, usually facilitated by war. Napoleon knew the classical past from literature, and the Greco-Roman world was the common cultural currency of all educated Europeans of his times, a currency whose value had increased markedly during the eighteenth century, as secularism displaced the other, hitherto dominant cultural trope of Europe, Christianity. Yet the classical past was very much alive for Napoleon, the Corsican bourgeois, as a guide to life – for its heroes and the forces that drove them were still relevant to his own circumstances; men like Odysseus were recognisable types in Napoleon’s Ajaccio. Ambition dominated this narrow, competitive world, and the lessons of antiquity were learned anew by every generation of the poor but vibrant islands that dotted Homer’s ‘wine-dark sea’. Napoleon came by ambition honestly: it was his inheritance. He was the scion of generations of tenacious men, whose common, defining element was the determination to rise in the world. Their world was a narrow one, but every generation of his family, on both sides, never ceased or shirked from the ‘project’ of social and economic advancement, collective and individual. This was Napoleon’s birthright: ambition coursed through his veins. However thwarted, constrained or crushed, ambition never abated in these families. It was an all-consuming passion, but one which had to be tempered with careful calculation and cunning.


 


The earth-shattering events of the French Revolution gave atavistic ambition a different context of wider horizons, but also of volatile circumstances where calculation often had to be over-ridden by opportunism, where caution had to give way to daring. Napoleon readily adapted to this world, displaying an innate ability all his own to seize every chance that came his way in the midst of the most dangerous, uncertain times the western world had ever known up to that time. His mental and physical energy, his unique talents – the sum of which can rightly be called genius – set him apart from ordinary people, yet the ambition which drove him put Napoleon at one with a whole generation of Frenchmen who wanted something for themselves from the Revolution that the old order could not permit: to rise as high as their talents allowed, and to revel in their success. No one should dare identify with a genius, but many can relate to shared aspirations. Awe is something that unfolds before one, just as Europe did for Napoleon. The years immediately after his seizure of power in 1799 were still dangerous, but they were also those of the swagger and the sneer. This was far from all, however.


 


The Revolution produced many remarkable politicians and soldiers; that Napoleon came to overshadow them all, and then lead an entire generation across a hostile continent to unparalleled hegemony is, indeed, staggering, and so best told in stages, perhaps. ‘Journey’ is a word much cheapened in contemporary parlance when applied to the course of a life, but the years covered in this volume constitute an extraordinary journey, where the physical movements of a man are, precisely, the measure of Napoleon’s progress in life. Napoleon was born, in 1769, in Ajaccio, a bastion of Italian civilisation that clung to the narrow ground between the sea and the barbarism of the mountains of Corsica; it pauses in 1805, as he begins the march to Austerlitz. No one propelled Napoleon on this course but himself. His journey amounted to the conquest of Europe. This was no easy matter, but it was, at that point in history, a unique achievement. In 1793, he had fled his native Corsica penniless, with little more than the shirt on his back and his head barely attached to his shoulders. By 1805, he was the head of state and had created an army ready to overcome all his enemies. No one of common birth had ever made such a ‘journey’. It cannot be said too often or too loudly: there had never been anyone like Napoleon before.


 


Many literati say a good biography should flow like a novel, and Napoleon is often said, perhaps apocryphally, to have seen his life as one. Authentic or not, his ‘journey’ certainly provides the narrative structure of the novel. To attempt a life of Napoleon that is not a narrative would be to cheat the reader as much as the subject, for it was, indeed, as unheralded a tale as it was spectacular. One wonders, if presented to a publisher from another galaxy, how so incredible a story might be received, which parts of it might have to be rewritten in the interests of reader-credibility.


This volume stops at a point when Napoleon wondered if his journey might have run its course, if he had over-played his hand. He now faced a larger war, with stronger enemies than ever before. Both his army and he himself were untried at war on this scale. He had scraped his realm bare of men and money to fight. His gamble worked. Thus there was more to come, and therefore motive would reassert itself over narrative as the driving force of the plot. That motive was power. If Napoleon’s life was, indeed, more like a novel than a documentary, then power is the red thread of its plotline. His life was about how he got power, but also about what he did with it. Napoleon’s military and diplomatic exploits, and his political machinations, were a springboard to power, as well as an assertion of it; his great reforms were what he did with power, once he had taken it. More than this, he had to defend the power he held, and this aspect of the story is too often overlooked. The constant need to protect his gains was why his caution so seldom left him, at least in the years covered in this book, and why he placed such value on self-control. Napoleon’s career is not just a story of a meteoric rise, it is a cautionary lesson in the fact that what is seized has to be held. Flux is all in the Napoleonic adventure; his search for political and personal stability becomes all the more poignant when this is remembered.


Napoleon lived in violently changing times, and it was part of his personal genius to recognise that the world would never cease changing, ever again: he put his finger on modernity when he said that his son would have to rule differently from himself. It is, therefore, equally legitimate to ask if a man so aware of change around him changed, himself. If anything marked Napoleon’s life, it was the acquisition of power from a position of exposed danger and subservience. In a penetrating review of an exemplary exercise in biography, David Runciman asked the question of the fourth volume of Robert Caro’s life of President Lyndon Johnson: Does the acquisition and exercise of real power reveal or occlude a personality?12 The question looms even larger in the case of Napoleon than in that of Johnson, for power came quickly to him, whereas Johnson had waited years to reach the presidency; when achieved by Napoleon, it was very close to absolute, not that of a democratic leader. By 1805, it was clear to the whole world that Napoleon was no longer Figaro or Rousseau-in-Venice: he had built a whole new political order to ensure this for himself. He was now set to prove his superiority over his old masters, be they the aristocrats of the old order, his contemporary European rivals, or the revolutionary politicians who had sought to use him. Did success bring out latent aspects of his character, or did it engender new ones? The clues are in this narrative but, if there can be any definitive answer – and it is most unlikely – only the later correspondence, on which volume two will be based, can offer any hope of enlightenment. Runciman’s question is worth trying to answer, but its value rests in the exercise, not in the result.


 


There is much to draw on when trying to understand Napoleon, but the human dilemma will always remain that a person is, ultimately, unknowable to others. In their foreword to Conrad’s Nostromo, Jacques Berthoud and Mara Kalnins draw attention to Conrad’s genius for recognising this:




Conrad was keenly aware of how partial and limited any interpretation of an event or assessment of another individual is. Juxtaposing different perspectives not only reveals that limitation but underlines the fullness and complexity of any given moment so that the artist can ‘bring to life the truth, manifold and one, underlying its every aspect’.13





If this is a difficult task for a novelist, it is all the more so for the historian, for even a writer as committed to realism as Conrad still creates his own world, while historians have to cope with the fragments left to them by the hazards of the past. Napoleon’s written legacy is, perhaps, the first to pose the biographer with a very modern problem. His nephew, Napoleon III, set out to preserve his uncle’s image for posterity by compiling a copious edition of Napoleon I’s correspondence. There is no shortage of first-hand material in the thirty-two volumes published under the auspices of the Second Empire, between 1858 and 1869, but their contents are, as everyone has always known, carefully tailored to say the least. The official correspondence serves only to deepen the problem which so troubled Conrad, and that is why many of Napoleon’s finest biographers have turned to the memoirs of others to resolve it. It was always a choice between the lesser of two subjective evils, and a trawl through the footnotes of his foremost chroniclers reveals their heavy dependence on perceptions and assessments of Napoleon made by his contemporaries, surely a towering irony for a man who was a prodigious correspondent in life.


This monumental anomaly is being rectified after a century and a half by the new, still emerging Napoléon Bonaparte, Correspondance générale being compiled by the Fondation Napoléon in Paris, under the direction of Thierry Lentz, which has now reached the year 1809. Through the concerted effort of a team of researchers, archives and private collections all over the world have been combed to yield a correspondence that will be two and a half times larger than the existing edition, and it is already almost double the size of Napoleon III’s version.14 What has emerged is a more reliable, complex and essential body of evidence to reveal ‘Napoleon-in-action’, as well as in his own words. The history of the man and the epoch has been changed for ever, as a result. Obviously, Napoleon was too ambitious, too aware of ‘destiny’, and too cautious a man to let his guard down consciously, and so most of what he wrote was self-serving, but the flow of his daily correspondence, unexpurgated by subjective considerations in the new edition, cannot hide reality.


The many memoirs about Napoleon can now be balanced beside his own words, as he confronted events in moments of almost constant stress and crisis, when there was no time for myth-making. The Spanish historian Jesús Pabón asserted, with enviable acumen, that Napoleon’s many and often contradictory pronouncements could only be of use to historians when they were matched by his actions.15 Before the publication of the new correspondence, this was, indeed, the only sane way to approach the subject. Now, however, words and deeds can be brought together as never before, making a new biography imperative, if only as the first salvo in a reassessment of Napoleon, the end of which cannot, and should not, be predicted. Indeed, that end will never come, happily. If history has taught us anything about the man, it is that any assessment of Napoleon can only be provisional, just as the entirety of another human being can never be known to others. Those who belong to the ages see their legacy shift with the tides of time.
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LIFE ON THE EDGE
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The Corsican Cradle, 1769–1779





Napoleone Buonaparte was born on 15 August 1769, the Feast of the Assumption of Our Lady the Virgin Mary, in Ajaccio, Corsica, to Carlo and Letizia (née Ramolino) Buonaparte; he was their second surviving child, his brother Giuseppe having been born the previous year. Letizia returned from Mass at the cathedral and gave birth to him at home, with the help of her servant, Camilla Ilari, who became Napoleon’s nurse. Myth was spun around the birth – that Letizia had brought him into the world alone; that she had done so on the floor of the front room; that the new-born had first been laid down on a carpet woven with scenes from Homer’s Iliad (this according to his ardent admirer Stendhal) – all of which Letizia, in her own lifetime, dismissed as so much nonsense.1 No one had carpets in Ajaccio in 1769, certainly not the Buonaparte, and they were not for summer use in any case. Camilla could always be counted on, so Letizia was not alone.




*





There was a strange occurrence that day which was real enough, for a comet appeared in the skies over Ajaccio. People naturally saw it as a portent of something, but opinions varied about the momentous event it foreshadowed. Only a few days before Napoleon died on St Helena, in 1821, a comet appeared in the skies over that little island as well. For those who set store by such things, there was no doubt about what that one meant. The lesson is not that superstition has weight, but that there is never any need to mythologise the life of Napoleon Bonaparte. The truth is more than enough to cope with.


AJACCIO: A COLONIAL WORLD


The single most important circumstance of Napoleon’s birth, in trying to understand him, is not that he was born in Corsica, but that he was born in Ajaccio. It is not enough to say he was simply a ‘Corsican’, for there were two very distinct Corsicas in 1769, which did not mix with each other much, and neither respected nor trusted the other. Like everyone else, Napoleon belonged quite firmly to one of these Corsicas. Napoleon’s final nemesis, the Duke of Wellington – that self-appointed epitome of the English grandee – is reputed to have rebuffed a man who called him ‘Irish’, with the withering reply: ‘Just because a man was born in a stable, it does not make him a horse.’ Napoleon’s ancestors, to a man and woman, would have given the same rebuke to anyone who called them merely ‘Corsicans’. When a French historian of the mid-nineteenth century said of Napoleon that ‘Italian blood ran from vein to vein’ in him,2 he should not be dismissed, but ‘Italy’ was, and is, many things.


Corsica was, in most ways, part of ‘Italy’. This meant that, like most of Italy, its cultures divided sharply between the highland periphery and the lowland, coastal world of urban culture. The Genoese imported this division to Corsica when they acquired it in 1453, and compounded it by creating the new settlements of Bastia and Ajaccio. In this act, they simply took for granted that the indigenous people of the highland interior – the ‘insulars’ as they always called them – were alien. The Italian rulers of the island excluded the people of the interior from the outset; this division between urban and rural, highland and lowland, was brought from the mainland, and did not change as long as Genoa ruled Corsica. Napoleon belonged somewhere in this complicated heritage, but as with most parts of Europe, simple geographic labels serve little purpose.


The Buonaparte and all their friends and relations belonged to the small cities of the coasts and, when they looked up to the high, jagged peaks that led to the isolated interior, they felt the same mixture of contempt and dread known all across the Mediterranean by the dwellers of the towns and plains for the barbarians of the uplands, of the isolated, violent, unlettered world the Jesuits called ‘Our Indies’ – our American frontier – a feeling shared by English-speaking, Protestant ‘north Britons’ like David Hume, when he looked out from his study in Glasgow at the ‘Highland Line’, or by Wellington, when he contemplated his ‘fellow Irishmen’ beyond the English Pale of settlement. This was a common feeling, and in Corsica it expressed a very clear division. Genoese rule made of both Corsicas an immobile place, where individuals might – and did – seek advancement by leaving Corsica, prepared to go anywhere in the world. However, Corsicans remained bound to their roots, whether in the interior or the coastal towns, a fundamental division that did not change over three centuries. These roots were immutable, however varied the experiences of the Corsicans beyond the island. In Corsica, as in so many other peripheral parts of Europe, the past counted.


The mountains of the Corsican interior did, indeed, merit being called ‘our Indies’ by the Jesuit and Franciscan fathers who were the only outsiders who took a real interest in these upland regions. Ajaccio was founded in 1492 by the Genoese, in the same year that Genoa’s most famous citizen crashed into the New World. The first Genoese settlers of Ajaccio may not have been in ‘first contact’ with the people they called ‘the insulars’, but they ventured less far, less fast into the interior of their new home than did those Genoese and Spaniards who followed Columbus across the Atlantic. The founders of Ajaccio clung to the coast, always. That was their job. They were part of a deliberate plan by the Genoese for Corsica, which they had acquired in 1453 for purely strategic reasons. The Republic of St George, with its capital in Genoa and its small hinterland spread out along the coast of Liguria – the modern Italian Riviera – was a commercial and banking power, with a considerable merchant fleet, and its only real interest in Corsica was to use it to secure the sea lanes. To this end, the Genoese destroyed most of the native aristocracy in ruthless wars in the late fifteenth and early sixteenth centuries, leaving only three families with noble status and any estates of note in the south of the island, the Bozzi, Ornano and Colonna-Istria houses.


The other prong of Genoese colonialism was the creation of new towns on the coasts, to serve as bases to protect shipping and to contain the ‘insulars’ of the interior. Ajaccio was one such foundation; the major town and capital was Bastia, in the north of the island, founded in 1476. Neither Ajaccio, on its large harbour, in the south-centre, nor Bastia, had any economic or commercial purpose: they were simply military colonies. There were other settlements that came to little, such as that attempted at Porto Vecchio, and the two older towns of the coasts – Bonifacio in the south-west and Calvi to the north-west – dated from before the Genoese, but they had been created purely as defensive positions, and contracted as Ajaccio and Bastia grew. Henceforth, Genoa ignored the interior as long as it got its taxes, and it dealt ruthlessly with the ‘insulars’ when it did not, or when they tried to ally with dangerous outsiders – usually the Turks, French or Milanese – against the Republic. Its manner of government in the mountains was one of manipulation, not control. The early destruction of the great nobles had left the natives leaderless at all but local level. In this way, highland Corsica became a world of petty clan chieftains, whom Genoa could use to collect taxes and then ignore.
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Genoese indifference is brought home by a simple fact: they neither knew nor cared about the geography of the interior in any detail. They were indifferent to anything but the most rudimentary idea of where its settlements were or their size. Genoa did not care what went on there, only what came out of it, in taxes. When they had to deal with serious unrest on the relatively accessible lands of the southern nobles in the early seventeenth century, it emerged that no one in authority really knew the size of the local population; when a serious revolt broke out in the highlands in 1735, it emerged there was no map of the interior in the offices of the island’s governor in Bastia, although a Tuscan, Pinelli, had made one in 1729. Official distances to the interior were calculated on how long the trip took to and from the coast.3 This attitude changed little between 1453 and 1768. As a result, the highland interior did not change, either. It remained the world of an uneducated, ill-disciplined clergy who were, first and foremost, part of their clans’ elites; of a vendetta culture that soaked many areas in blood for generations; of ancient superstitions; of ‘honour’ and little formal learning; of shepherds who lived in almost complete solitude for most of the year. It was the Corsica of the bandits, who lurked in the passes that led from the coast to the hills. Only the very poorest of the Catholic religious orders, the humble Franciscans, remained among these people long enough to win their trust, for only they could share their hard lives on such barren land. The Jesuits came, looked, investigated, and went back to the coastal towns to found colleges for the education of the Ligurian settlers. This was the Corsica of legend, and of stereotype. It had nothing at all to do with the Buonaparte.


Napoleon’s world was that of small urban settlements, clinging to the seaboard, proud but wary behind their walls, whose more ambitious denizens looked out to sea for advancement and gain, not inland, while all of them allied and vied with each other to hold the narrow ground they called home, competing and co-operating, as needs be, for the small rewards that came from the equally small metropole of Genoa, and what could be extracted from the inhospitable island itself. It was a society whose horizons were at once the very narrowest and most petty, and the most adventurous and restless. The same Ajaccian might offer his services – military, professional, artisanal – to the Italian states, France, Spain, and even the Turks, while he was engaged in bitter litigation over a few square metres of ground within the walls of his town. The Buonaparte were no exception. They did not like the ‘insulars’ anywhere near them. Soon after its foundation, the mountain people flocked to Ajaccio, but in one of the few major concessions the settlers ever wrung from the Republic, by an ‘ethnic treaty’ of 1579, the two thousand or so settlers forced the ‘insulars’ to live outside the walls, in il Borgu, near an insalubrious marsh, and soon denied them the right to own property or carry arms within the walls.4 Ajaccio and all the other coastal towns were officially called presidii, military posts, the same word used by the Spanish in the New World for the same reason. One such presidio grew to be Los Angeles and another, San Francisco. It did not work out this way for either Bastia or Ajaccio.


As with their compatriots who followed in the wake of Columbus to the Americas, the Ligurians who took up the challenge of Ajaccio and Bastia came from all social classes and groups. What they had in common was their origins in Liguria, a poor, small stretch of ground, which could never hope to support its population. Such areas produced conquistadors in these years and, just as most of the Spaniards who overthrew the great civilisations of the Americas came from poor backwaters like Estremadura in Spain, so the Genoese government found its readiest volunteers for Corsica not from the great city, but from its impoverished hinterland, the Riviera. The Riviera is today a playground of the very rich and one of the most fashionable coastlines in the world, but it was nothing of the kind when Genoa needed colonists for Corsica. Indeed, as the imperial ‘department of the Apennines’, which it became between 1805 and 1814, it was one of the direst backwaters of Napoleon’s own empire, as incapable of attracting good administrators from the outside as it was of supplying its own. It was the kind of place that produced men ready to risk all on the longest of chances. In this case, they traded one backwater for another, but at the turn of the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries it must have seemed worth the gamble. Napoleon sprang from a long line of gamblers.


In the period after Genoa transferred control of the island to France by a treaty of 1768, Napoleon’s father, Carlo, and his uncle, Luciano, desperately – often pathetically – tried to create grand Tuscan origins for the family, less from snobbery than from the very sane need to stake their claim to nobility with their new French masters, whose standards in such matters could seem too high and exacting to the Ligurians of Corsica. They were determined to be seen as settlers from the mainland, never – even after three centuries – wishing to be identified with the ‘insulars’. It was much the same in Napoleon’s mother’s family, the Ramolino, who had more immediate links with the Genoese elites, but also claimed, spuriously, to be of Venetian and Florentine origin.


The sophisticated standards of record-keeping in the Republic of St George stretch back well into the Middle Ages, and the real story of the Buonaparte is easy enough to chart. They came to Corsica as the Old World’s equivalent of the conquistadors, just like most other Ligurians. The first Buonaparte to take service in Ajaccio was Francesco, who came from Sarzana, the largest town of the eastern Riviera. He went to Corsica in 1514 as a mounted crossbowman. Although he stayed in close contact with his brother, a priest, in Sarzana, Francesco never left Ajaccio again, save on active service.


Thereafter, the fortunes of the Buonaparte were bound entirely to the city and its immediate hinterland. Francesco’s son, Gabriele, was also a soldier of the garrison, but in the 1560s he became one of the anziani of Ajaccio, the annually renewed city council, on which the family would be represented henceforth. Like his father and the other Ligurian soldiers, he was a stipendiato, a citizen of the town within the walls, not an ‘insular’, and so did not have to ask permission to live, own or buy property within it. He returned to Sarzana to find a bride. When the ‘insulars’ rose in the late 1550s, he fought them, as he was paid to do.


It was Gabriele’s son, Geronimo, who took the most important step in the history of the Buonaparte under Genoese rule, when he became a member of the local legal classes. Through Geronimo, the Buonaparte took a step away from the world of the ‘gamblers’, of the soldier-adventurers who created Ajaccio, into a different culture. Henceforth, they learned the cautious ways of the lawyers, and adopted the careful calculations of the provincial Mediterranean bourgeoisie of which they were a part. Valour in arms had made this advancement possible, but the opportunity it presented was seized with both hands. From that time onwards, no Buonaparte ever performed paid manual labour. Probably as a reward for the family’s loyalty to the Republic against the ‘insulars’, Geronimo became a clerk of the local registry – the cancelleria – and the family maintained its place in the literate, educated legal classes from then onwards. This allowed them to enter the most well-entrenched, durable section of the urban elite, for the lawyers were the literate manipulators of urban society. ‘They not only monopolised municipal government, they monopolised the knowledge of how it worked’, as Michel Vergé-Franceschi has put it.5


It was as a lawyer and a minor government prosecutor that Napoleon’s father, Carlo, rebuilt the family’s fortunes from their lowest point, during Napoleon’s infancy. The family had its ups and downs over the centuries, but it never quite lost its place among the middling levels of settler society in Ajaccio, simultaneously intermarrying and disputing within its ranks. Marriages with the Bacciochi were common, the last being that of Napoleon’s sister, Elisa, to Félix, who served Napoleon well as a general. There were alliances and litigations with the Pozzo di Borgo, a somewhat wealthier and more fortunate family: Charles-André, Napoleon’s contemporary, became his archenemy and would-be nemesis in the service of Napoleon’s most potent foe, Tsar Alexander I. Their fathers had been alternately rivals and allies in local politics, and in the law courts, over property.


Ajaccio was typical of the urban, provincial world of the western Mediterranean in most of these ways, with its local elite as competitive as it was tightly knit. The law, the army and the Church were sought-after professions; property within the walls was the mark of status, while the ownership of lands and mills in the surrounding countryside funded a style of urban life as ostentatious as possible, which in Ajaccio was not great but all the more coveted for that. It was a secular world, by the standards of the times, where benefactors preferred civic improvements to building churches. In its way, this was a sign of growing, if still unconscious, independence from the metropole. The Republic had welcomed the Jesuit order, with its insistence on adherence to Roman orthodoxy and its mission to imbue every aspect of life with the Catholic faith, from its foundation. It was the Jesuits who, with the support of Genoa, founded the only source of secondary education in Ajaccio for the notables. Their college served the sons of the settler elite well for three centuries, until the Jesuit Order was abolished in France in 1773, but the Jesuits, for all their guile, did not instil the notables of Ajaccio with a spirituality that outweighed their hard-nosed secular view of life, nor did their influence curb the appetite of this ambitious milieu for the learning – first Humanist and then Enlightened – that came from the mainland.
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The legal classes used the Church more than it used them; places in the great Italian universities, with their Humanist learning, were sought when they could be afforded. The Jesuit monopoly of secondary education under the Republic of St George did not prevent the spread, first, of the Humanist teaching of the Italian legal schools, so necessary for worldly success at home, nor, later, the writings of the philosophes, nor that ultimate expression of heresy, Freemasonry, a society to which Napoleon’s father and many of his uncles belonged. The Corsican diaspora ensured that, however isolated and inbred Ajaccio’s bourgeoisie might seem, its members were never as marginal as they might appear. Above all, marriage to a ‘passing’ Genoese official – an officer of the garrison or an administrator sent out on a short period of service – was highly prized, both for the patronage it could bring and as a way of reasserting the ‘apartness’ of the urban community from the hinterland.


The law was what mattered in the little world of Ajaccio, for if military prowess was the ticket out, legal skill was the defence mechanism to ‘hold the fort’. There is a much more profound point buried in the endless litigations and revealed by the very centrality of the legal classes to this society. The law was how they fought each other, for the vendetta culture of the interior was anathema to this world. Its bitterness did not translate into violence for, in so tight-knit but ambitious a milieu, alliances often had to be made among families who had been at law with each other a generation before, in utter contrast to the clan system of the interior.
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No one could afford a vindictiveness that allowed no point of return. Carlo Buonaparte, Napoleon’s father, was the busiest lawyer in Ajaccio: in 1770 alone, he pleaded in 98 of the 184 cases that came before its court, and he defended people that he himself had gone to law against on other occasions.6 After the peasant revolts of the early seventeenth century, the three surviving insular noble families were drawn into this world, too, as their lands became fragmented, and they sought – almost cap in hand – admission to Ajaccio and the protection of its laws. By the late eighteenth century, the Bozzi, especially, had married into the Buonaparte, but also fell into a bitter property dispute with them over a house in the town, a sign, over the long term, of how their power had declined. Carlo fought them hard in court in the mid-1770s, backed by his uncle, Luciano, a very uncharitable priest whose grip on the family finances gave him great power over his nephew. For all the bitterness of the legal battle, the 1780s saw Buonaparte – Carlo and Luciano among them – standing as godparents to new children of their former rivals in court, an emphatic sign of reconciliation after the case was concluded. As Michel Vergé-Franceschi has put it, trouble between bourgeois families lasted three years, not three generations, and did not involve violence. Carlo was the orchestrator of this particular instance of reconciliation, just as he had, as the family’s lawyer, prosecuted the family’s case until it was resolved.
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Carlo passed on to his son the received wisdom of his culture, that men were there to be reconciled, not alienated.7 It was the way these bickering, litigious families conducted their business, through the law. It was the same within the family, for, although often disunited, its members rarely became enemies. Whether at home or within the walls of the presidio, cohesion was all.8 It was the mark of the civilised world of the Greek polis, from which the Corsican presidio was consciously derived. Aristotle’s classical trope of the civilised urban polis and the alien ‘barbarian’ world beyond its walls was a living reality for the Buonaparte and their ilk. In the shadow of the mountains, they wore the law as a badge of civilisation, as a symbol of their ‘otherness’, rather than as ‘vendetta by other means’.9 The Bozzi, certainly, had been ‘civilised’ by the time they went to law with Carlo, and he treated them accordingly. Even many of Napoleon’s bitterest enemies noted his lack of vindictiveness, despite the power he wielded and the temptation before him to exert vendetta on an unparalleled scale. He came by this restraint honestly, for it was a cultural and social attribute, as well as a trait of his character. It arose from the culture of the elites of the Ligurian presidii.


The Buonaparte had but one marriage with the insular elite in three hundred years. Geronimo’s son, Francesco, followed his father into the cancelleria, and also exercised the very important functions of a notary. His skills led to his employment by one of the three insular noble families, the Istria, and to marriage to a niece of its signore. Francesco rose to be the luogotenante – the chief steward – of the Istria domains, but after a violent revolt by their peasants in 1615 broke their real power, Francesco largely turned his back on this rural world. He never gave up his role as a notary in Ajaccio, and by the 1630s his considerable energies were devoted to urban renewal. The family had little to do with the rest of the island until the generation of Napoleon’s parents, and, in this, they followed the growing power of the state. The infighting among the three insular noble families deepened the divide between the presidio of Ajaccio and the surrounding countryside, for the humbling of the Bozzi, Ornano and Istria marked not just a victory for the remote Republic of the metropole, but for the bourgeoisie of the presidio. The dominant class on the south of the island was now the settler, urban elite.10


The early and mid-eighteenth centuries saw a decline in the family fortunes, but good marriages within the local elite and with the Genoese colonial administrators continued, as signs that their standing was not measured in wealth, alone, however ‘middling’ even by local standards.


As Michel Vergé-Franceschi, one of the finest historians of Corsica, has said, it is not enough to look only at the Buonaparte, for ‘a family does not come down to one line. A family is never a name, it is a milieu.’11 Napoleon was Letizia’s son, as well as Carlo’s, and, in his own mind, he was more hers than his father’s, for he always said that his mother had given him his fierté, a mixture of pride, arrogance and determination. Fierté means indomitability, what another European island, Ireland, terms ‘fierce’. If this was indeed so, she defined him.


Letizia was so widely acclaimed the prettiest girl in Ajaccio when she married Carlo in 1764, at barely fifteen, that it is probably true, but her physical charms played no part in the union. Carlo openly confessed in his memoirs that he was in love with another girl, so much so that even Letizia’s beauty could not make him forget her.


For the Buonaparte, however, this was the best family alliance they could hope for. Letizia’s family, both the Ramolino and, still more, her mother’s family, the Pietrasanta, were on a higher rung than the Buonaparte. Letizia was firmly part of the colonial ‘establishment’. Her father’s family, the Ramolino, arrived in the 1560s, and the first known Ramolino, Gabriele, was, like the first Buonaparte, a cavalryman, but of higher social standing than Francesco, for he fought in the company raised by the great Genoese patrician Andrea Doria, was wounded, and then, as a reward for bravery, was given command of a frigate which guarded the harbour of Ajaccio. The Buonaparte had left the profession of arms long behind them, but the Ramolino, especially, and the Pietrasanta, still held prestigious military commands until the end of Genoese rule in the 1760s, as well as being notaries. Her father, Giovan Geronimo, who died when Letizia was only five, had been a captain of the garrison of Ajaccio and a government inspector of roads and bridges, as well as the magistrate of the village of Bocognao, where the family acquired lands, while his father – who outlived him and spent much time with Napoleon as a child – had also been a soldier and the mayor of Ajaccio. Like the Buonaparte, the Ramolino had nearly all been anziani in their time but, unlike them, they had held firmly to the military tradition that had originally brought them to Corsica. Like the Buonaparte, too, they were desperate to create a Florentine ancestry for themselves. This in no way diminished their intense loyalty to the Republic, and a major moment in their family lore was the participation of Morgante Ramolino – ‘a cavalryman of Ajaccio’ – in the killing in 1567 of Sampiero Corso, the legendary leader of a great revolt of the ‘insulars’. In one strand of many Napoleonic legends, Letizia is depicted as the female embodiment of an atavistic, ‘pure’ Corsica, as a classical matriarch stuck in a later age, a child of the wild mountains who instilled in her son a vendetta-like passion for revenge and political independence. Nothing could have been further from the truth.
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The marriage of Letizia’s father into the Pietrasanta family only deepened the Ramolino’s firm roots in the ‘Establishment’. The horizons of the Pietrasanta reached beyond Ajaccio, to the island’s capital, Bastia, for they had risen as high in the service of the Republic as a Corsican born in the presidii could hope; in the early seventeenth century, a Pietrasanta had held the highest office open to an islander, as Commissioner General of Genoa in Corsica. Nevertheless, the family remained pure Ajaccians, and had married into the Bacciochi and the Pozzo di Borgo in the eighteenth century. Unlike the Ramolino or the Buonaparte, the Pietrasanta never felt the need to create a noble lineage for themselves, even under the French. The Pietrasanta had produced one of the few Corsican-born captains of the citadel of Ajaccio, a sign of the great confidence placed in them by the Republic,12 but they seamlessly transferred their loyalties to their new masters when Genoa passed control of Corsica to France in 1768, as a true Establishment would. They retained considerable influence with the new rulers, as they had with the old.


When the politics of the island became convulsed in the mid-eighteenth century, and when the change of masters made it essential to create new networks of patronage and protection, it was the Ramolino−Pietrasanta axis that saved the future of the young Napoleon, for these families possessed a standing, won long in the past, that the Buonaparte did not. Letizia’s grandfather passed easily into French service, becoming a member of their Conseil Supérieur in Bastia in 1768. The good relationship Giuseppe Maria Pietrasanta quickly established with his new French masters would save the Buonaparte from near oblivion in the first years of the new order.13 When Carlo Buonaparte married Letizia Ramolino in 1764, she brought him the biggest dowry in Ajaccio, the fruits of generations of local notability and the recognition of the metropolitan sovereign.


Letizia’s family had never stepped out of line until her aunt, Angela Maria, like her niece a great beauty, but widowed at an early age, took the extraordinary step not only of remarrying, but of marrying a Swiss Protestant mercenary naval officer of the garrison. François Fesch half-heartedly converted to Catholicism, and their son, Giuseppe – Joseph – although Napoleon’s uncle, was close to him in age, and grew up with the Buonaparte children. Joseph Fesch entered the Church along with another Joseph, Napoleon’s older brother, and was later elevated by his nephew to become Cardinal Archbishop of Lyon, the primate of all France. Raised by his Protestant father, Fesch was a man of moderate religious views, which counted for as much with his nephew as did the ties of kinship. François Fesch, and the Istria, a few generations before, were the only people from outside the walls of Ajaccio to enter the realm of Napoleon’s family, on either side, in almost three centuries. Napoleon was born in a fortress, in every sense.


This was the cloth from which Napoleon was cut, but this world, so long in place, would soon be rocked by the wider currents of European history to which so many of its ambitious sons had set out so determinedly to belong. When the age of revolutions came to Corsica, however, it was not from within the society of the presidii, but from the bowels of the mountains. It shook the faith of many in the world as it was, Carlo and his second son included.


CORSICA IN THE AGE OF ENLIGHTENMENT AND REVOLUTION


The Republic of St George was a weak state, and it ruled by exploiting the weakness that came naturally to most Mediterranean societies, the almost eternal antipathy between the mountain and the plain. Its ‘colonial policy’ transformed an anthropological trope into a political system, that of two Corsicas. In the course of the eighteenth century, however, the wider world began to impinge on the island, and this seemingly permanent division almost – but not quite – threatened to change. The Buonaparte were caught up in this rather more than many other families.


The ‘insulars’ had always retained their own tradition of resentment and rebellion. The first real assertions of Genoese authority had crushed the great native signori, the Leca and the Rocca, but the middle decades of the sixteenth century had seen the rebellion led by Sampiero Corso, a remarkable leader sprung from the mountain people, who won recognition from the French and the Turks before he was crushed. At the end of the century, the remnants of the insular aristocracy rose again in the ‘wars of the Cinarchesi’ that definitively broke the independence of the three southern signori. In a static world, these memories remained vivid on both sides of the walls of the presidii. Resentment came naturally to the ‘insulars’, as did revolt when circumstances seemed propitious.


It was more complex within the city walls. For some, Letizia’s family chief among them, the bonds to the Republic had seemed insoluble, and yet new ties to their new French masters had been relatively easy to forge when the island changed hands in 1768. Nevertheless, for all the privileges and financial advantages the Republic accorded the descendants of the men it sent to found its colonies, Genoese rule had always had a ‘glass ceiling’, which was less important to the alien world of the highlands but could be felt acutely by a minority of the settler elites in the presidii. As colonists, the ‘Ligurians’ of the coastal towns could not hope either to attain standing in the Genoese metropole, or to command the highest offices in the island, for the Governor in Bastia and his immediate staff, as well as the military commandants of the presidii, were always Genoese patricians. True power and influence beyond the parish pump could be found only in the service of foreigners. The elites of the Corsican presidii were not alone in this, nor in their growing feelings of impotence as the demands of the metropole grew and their own voices diminished in the early eighteenth century. The settlers of the Americas, British and Spanish alike, began to feel restive, as did the Anglo-Irish, closer to home, but such elements in Corsica, if vocal and intense in their resentment, never gained a real following within their own walled communities.


The highlands and lowlands shared the limited expectations imposed on them by the Republic, but their respective diasporas met, mingled and explored their common frustrations only abroad, not on the island. In Rome, Florence and Naples men from otherwise different, alien worlds began to find a shared identity impossible on the island they all called home. Limited prospects and the increasing realisation that they had a common enemy in the Genoese Republic brought some of them together by the early eighteenth century, but only in the context of the diaspora. Those who remained at home in the presidii were, in the main, either too cautious, like most of the Buonaparte – epitomised by Carlo’s uncle, Luciano – or too intrinsically loyal to the Republic, like the Pietrasanta, to think in terms of sedition. It was easier for the expatriate ‘insulars’.


The series of rebellions which broke out in Corsica from 1729 onwards were part of a wider phenomenon, yet they were also rooted in the past. The core of resistance to Genoa was centred where it had always been since 1453, in the highlands. The elites of the presidii were in two minds about supporting rebels drawn from a culture they feared and despised, or, at worst, prepared to fulfil their original role as a colonial garrison of Genoa. This was the world in which Carlo and Letizia married in 1764, and into which Napoleon was born five years later.


The first uprising against Genoa, in 1729, began as these always had, in the mountains, and it had two different sources, as had been the case since 1453: peasant grievances over taxation erupted into a series of violent local revolts, and leadership was found, first, among the local clan chieftains, but came also from Spain and Venice, which both saw an opportunity to oust Genoa from the island. This time, however, a single local leader emerged from the insular elites; this was Giacinto Paoli, a judge and minor official from the small village of Morosaglia, in the mountainous north-east of the island. Giacinto was a remarkable product of the peasant elite, educated at the Collegio De Bene in Genoa thanks to a relative in the clergy. A brilliant classicist, he returned to his area, surrounded by a family of illiterate farmers and shepherds, deeply immersed in the traditional culture of vendetta and clan loyalty. For Giacinto the classics of the Greco-Roman past were something of a guide to life in his remote rural world, and he imbued the revolt with more direction and purpose than was normal, and thought in terms of a central government and an independent Corsica. Nevertheless, the revolt itself was still anchored in the mountain communities, and the presidii stood firmly against them: Paoli’s men sacked Bastia when it offered resistance and ‘Ajaccio welcomed them with cannon fire’.14 By 1736, the Genoese had crushed the revolt, and Paoli fled into exile. Unrest rumbled on, however, aided and abetted by the insular diaspora. As a result, Giacinto’s son, Pasquale, was raised mainly in exile, educated in Naples and Rome, and served in the Neapolitan army, at one point seeking service with the French.


The upheavals of the wars of the 1740s and 1750s − the War of the Austrian Succession and the Seven Years War − in which Genoa found itself unwillingly involved, allowed Pasquale his chance to reassert his father’s hopes for Corsican independence, and he returned to the island in 1755, well educated, articulate and, at first, somewhat detached from the hard realities of insular clan politics. Nevertheless, facing a much weakened Genoa, Pasquale Paoli forged a rebel state in the mountains, with its ‘shadow government’ in Corte, the pre-Genoese medieval capital of the island, and the only town of consequence in the interior. Paoli held his ground here for thirteen years.


Little had really changed at the heart of the revolt: Paoli’s support, like his father’s before him, came from the clans of the mountains; the gates of the presidii remained closed, and its elites, epitomised by families like the Pietrasanta and Ramolino, were set firmly against him. However, Paoli’s long experience of the wider world – he was the product of Enlightened Europe more than of the society he sought to lead – gave him aspirations to forge a government based on representative institutions; Paoli asked Rousseau to draw up a constitution for Corsica, a task he accepted with alacrity and completed in 1765.


Rousseau’s enthusiasm for the Corsican cause was emblematic of a change in the wider context of Paoli’s revolt. Paoli presented his rebellion and his rebel state in exactly the light that progressive European opinion had been waiting for in these decades, and Paoli knew how to manipulate educated opinion in the salons of metropolitan Europe. Paoli played on the aura around him, but he did so in the sincere belief that he could create a genuinely Enlightened state, in his rebel stronghold, between 1755 and 1768. To the intelligentsia of urban Europe, Paoli incarnated the pure virtues of Roman antiquity, among a people untouched by modern corruption. He became their ideal of the disinterested freedom fighter, the father of a free people, leading them to modern democracy – itself an unknown but much discussed quantity in the eighteenth century – but determined to preserve the innate values of community and sense of natural justice they thought they saw incarnated in the Corsican highlanders. When foreign intellectuals came to Corte, they did not see the barren countryside or the jumble of impoverished houses that formed the small town bereft of amenities, the Corsica Paoli himself was determined to change for the better. Instead, the cultivated bien pensants were mesmerised by what they took for the remnants of a lost classical Arcadia. The Romantic haze had descended on educated Europe, and so, somewhat ironically, Enlightened opinion was ‘ready’ for Paoli and his mountain republic in the 1750s, to an extent it had not been for his father or for less sophisticated, obscurantist peasant rebels. He was visited by the Scottish intellectual James Boswell, like Paoli an enthusiastic Freemason, and many others. This time, the wider world knew about Corsica, even if it did little, in practice, to help. Nor was Paoli himself free from a romantic, idealised vision of his people and his country. His idealism was born in a diaspora he had known since early childhood, for his real life had been spent largely abroad, where he nourished hopes and visions almost as abstract as those of his admirers. He did not abandon these hopes, to his credit, in the face of harsh realities, even if he learned to navigate the world of vendetta and clan loyalty. This was really the idealism of a displaced person, raised in exile, rather than of a recent emigrant.


Paoli’s state continued to exist in its mountain bastions largely because the Republic was now too weakened by debts and the costs of war to exert itself, beyond defending the presidii, which were now in effect isolated outposts more than at any time since their foundation. In reality, for all his genuine aspirations for a modern, prosperous Corsican nation, Paoli’s power base was rooted in the world of the highlands. The ‘insulars’ were just as inclined to emigrate as the settlers, and probably more so, in search of betterment. Many members of the broken and reduced indigenous elite, and the families of the local clan chieftains who now dominated the highlands pointedly took service with the Venetians, Genoa’s bitter rival; others found their way through Spanish service as far as Latin America. A few, usually through family members in the lower clergy, were able to gain educations in Genoa, alongside the sons of the settlers, in the Collegio De Bene, where a handful of places were reserved for deserving Corsican boys. The world they returned to was very different from that of the presidii, however. The highland elites were drawn from the peasantry. Local judges, parish priests and clan leaders were part of a violent world; no one was far removed from the culture of vendetta or the practice of banditry, even if they were not actively engaged in either, and part of their role in village society was to mediate the threat of violence and the consequences of theft. This was a world people like the Buonaparte or Ramolino visited as rarely as possible, if at all, and then only on official or commercial business.


The intellectual world of the presidii was far from frozen in these decades, however. This was where some small cracks began to appear in their walls, less literally – for the vast majority of the townspeople did not see in Paoli a bearer of modernity, but the harbinger of their worst nightmare – than intellectually. Among the very few who looked to Paoli’s vision of an independent Corsica was Napoleon’s father, Carlo, much to the discomfort of his in-laws and most of his own family. Like Paoli, Carlo was a Freemason, a progressive thinker who had spent time abroad, mainly in Rome, and acquired a similarly negative view of Genoese rule to Paoli’s. In Carlo’s case, this was based not so much on the traditional sense of oppression felt by ‘insulars’ of all levels of education, than on a dislike of the backward, conservative ethos of the Republic and a growing sense of the very limited opportunities it offered its ‘Corsican garrison’. Carlo had had a ‘shady’ young manhood, it seems, although it is unlikely that the more sordid accusations levelled at him by anonymous denunciations in Ajaccio were true, some of which involved seducing a virgin. However, his reaction to his unwanted marriage to Letizia was to leave for Rome, officially to study law, which he failed to do. Instead, he ran up considerable debts, as did his wife in retaliation, pressing Ajaccio’s capacity for high fashion to admirable and resourceful limits.


Whatever he got up to in Rome, when Carlo returned home he had changed. Indeed, he came back a man, but one now highly influenced by the insular Corsican émigré community he had come to know in Rome, and offered his services to Paoli. It is impossible to know with certainty the relative degrees of careerist calculation and idealism that went into Carlo’s decision, but it was, in terms of the society of the presidii to which he belonged, an unpopular gamble. That said, they all knew that Paoli had been ‘up there’ for a decade in 1765, when Carlo returned from his travels and moved to Corte, initially without Letizia, whose spending sprees continued unabated. Several of the younger Buonaparte went with him, notably his brother, Napoleone, and his sister-in-law, Geltrude, who was estranged from her husband. By contrast, and more representative of the Ajaccio elite, Carlo’s uncle Don Luciano, the cautious, calculating priest, weighed up Paoli’s chances of survival, remembered his real sources of support and so rejected the idea of moving to Corte, which he called ‘a foreign country’.15 Paoli’s assurances that ‘loyalty would be well rewarded’ were too vague to reverse centuries of enmity between the interior and the presidii, save among the young and restless. Carlo was able to rescue his own position when Paoli fell, in no small part thanks to his in-laws, but his decision to go to Corte would have fundamental implications for Napoleon, for Paoli became a pivotal figure in Napoleon’s early life, if not in the manner his father would have wished.


One of Paoli’s inducements to the ambitious, educated youth of the presidii was the new university he created in Corte. Although small and with limited resources, its courses were a model of the new, progressive learning and were free from the control of the Church, present in most European states. Carlo took his studies more seriously in Corte than he had in Rome. More importantly, he rose high and fast in Paoli’s service, becoming something like a private secretary to Babbù, ‘the Father’. Carlo probably did not wield as much power in Corte as he claimed in his memoir, or as his sons continued to believe, but he undoubtedly had a considerable degree of influence on day-to-day affairs. Geltrude proved a great favourite at Paoli’s semi-official ‘court’, a role subsequent myth assigned to Letizia, who arrived later in Corte. Letizia cut a dash, and her lavish spending now found its justification, but her sister actually seems to have been closer to Paoli.16




*





Letizia’s first son Joseph was born in Ajaccio, in January 1768, but was removed to Corte, where Napoleon was probably conceived in the first week of November the same year. Something crucial changed in that year, however. Napoleon may or may not have told Paoli, in June 1789, that ‘I was born as the nation died’, for the authenticity of the letter is highly questionable,17 but the observation, whether real or not, is correct.


On 15 May 1768, the Republic of St George ‘entrusted’ Corsica to French protection. As Michel Vergé-Franceschi has made clear, the Republic did not actually sell or otherwise cede the island to France. Rather, in what he terms aptly ‘a game of dupes’, the Treaty of Versailles authorised the French to govern and pacify Corsica, in the interests of both states, and then return it to Genoa.18 The Genoese knew full well that they could never hope to regulate their finances sufficiently to meet the conditions for its return, and the French had no intention of giving it back. Nevertheless, Corsica remained as strategically important in the western Mediterranean as it was under-developed economically, and both states feared, following the emphatic defeat of France by Britain in the Seven Years War, that Paoli’s popularity among the London intelligentsia was evolving into links with the British establishment, and that his ‘mountain republic’ – the modern early Rome – might actually become a puppet state of the modern Carthage and its powerful fleet. This prospect intimidated both parties to the treaty, and, on 19 May, two battalions – the first of nearly 15,000 French troops – landed in Ajaccio to a warm welcome. Paoli was now facing, not an inert, minor Italian city-state, but – for all its recent defeats in major wars – the greatest land power in western Europe, able and determined to protect the island, and the presidii above all, from the British at sea, and the rebellious ‘fifth column’ in the mountains.


However progressive Paoli’s experiment in statehood had been in Corte, the conflict now returned to its traditional contours very quickly, although this time the ‘occupier’ was one to be reckoned with. Paoli decided to strike at the large, mainly ‘settler’ signori of the north, but the city of Bastia, where the new Governor of Corsica, the comte de Marbeuf, had been installed in the name of Louis XV, quickly rallied to the French.19 Paoli won a few engagements, but the French juggernaut proved too much for what was, in the end, a peasant militia. Foreign observers had waxed lyrical for decades about Corsican valour and their ferocity in arms, plaudits that were not embroidered fantasies, but at Ponte Nuovo, on 8 May 1768, a large, newly arrived French contingent under the comte de Vaux caught the main Paolist force at a narrow crossing and, in a terrible slaughter, Paoli’s resistance was effectively broken. Paoli himself had already been put to flight a few days before and was away in the hills. His absence has cast suspicion on him ever since, and has never been explained, nor has the fact that some troops – German volunteers with Paoli – turned on the retreating rebels and opened fire on them. Nor does Carlo seem to have been at Ponte Nuovo, later mythology notwithstanding, as he was more likely to have been with Paoli’s staff. Later legend had Napoleon’s uncle and namesake dying heroically on the bridge, but his earlier death from natural causes is easily proved. What is incontrovertible is that Carlo and Letizia’s world now crumbled under the sledgehammer of French arms.


Paoli and what was left of his army fell back to Corte, but, knowing it could not be held, he and several thousand others made for the coast, where the Royal Navy collected them. A generation of exile would follow. To his credit, Carlo did not desert Paoli, and freely admitted in his memoirs, written for his sons, that he would have followed his leader into exile without Letizia, now carrying Napoleon, had Paoli himself not reminded him of his duty as a father and husband.


Accordingly, Carlo led his young family home the hard way. Order had broken down in the mountains after Ponte Nuovo, and it was probably as much to protect his vulnerable wife and infant son, Joseph, from the depredations of bandits, as from the French, that he took them over high, small passes in dreadful, freak snowstorms, to the safety of Ajaccio. This journey became the stuff of legend, a brave, stalwart Letizia rallying the rebel womenfolk and urging Carlo to make a last stand high in the mountain caves. It was nothing of the kind, for the family moved almost alone, leaving the diehards behind.20 Nevertheless, their ordeal was proof enough that there was more to this couple than the other reality of a vain, spendthrift wife and an ambitious, preening husband. Their reasons were more personal and prosaic than the stuff of the legend, but Letizia made the hard journey all the same, heavily pregnant, in awful conditions. It was proof enough of the fierté she imparted to her son. Such people could face hardship when they had to. If there is any truth in that current of medical opinion that says children are already learning actively while in the womb, Napoleon’s first subconscious lessons in life were those of privation, danger and rugged persistence. Whatever the truth of this, Napoleon certainly showed very early in his military career a taste for physical hardship worthy of a Spartan, and forced marches in blizzards, over forbidding mountains, became the forte of his armies.


The battered Buonaparte family arrived home, in every sense. Carlo’s days as an idealistic Corsican patriot, and as part of a national government, were over. He settled down to the hard work of making something of himself and securing a future for his children. He became a busy lawyer, took an interest in his properties and, above all, set about working with Letizia to give their sons a happy, secure upbringing after the deluge was over. Napoleon treasured his parents’ efforts for him, and the happy childhood they gave him. The Buonaparte returned to the family home, but under the tight grip of Don Luciano, who continued to control most of their finances. That home continued to expand, despite property disputes and lack of funds. A terrace was built at the rear, as both a gesture to fashion and to give the two boys a safer place to play than the street. The legal dispute with the Bozzi, across the road, rumbled on in the first half of the 1770s, while in the mountains Paoli’s supporters planned a new revolt, which broke out in 1774 and was quickly and ruthlessly suppressed by the French. Carlo kept his distance from it, thus confirming he had broken definitively with his former politics. It is generally agreed that Carlo was not regarded as a traitor to Paoli by Corsican society, for he had stood by him for as long as he remained on the island, and his new collaboration with the French was regarded in Ajaccio as simply conforming to the general attitude of the urban elite, a return to the fold and to sanity, after a noble, but misguided aberration.


Napoleon’s early years were spent in comparative peace, playing with his family and friends, surrounded by a secure, loving home to which he always paid tribute. There were dark moments, for Carlo and Letizia were never entirely at ease with each other, and Napoleon recalled with distaste his mother’s orders to go and spy on Carlo in the caffè, ‘to see if he was gambling’, and admitted freely that he was not a truthful child, incurring her strap for it. He was boisterous, a trait perhaps over-egged in the myths surrounding his childhood, but his exuberance probably stood out less for its intensity, than in contrast to the affable, tranquil nature of his older brother. His love of playing soldiers, so stressed in the legend, is not unusual in little boys, but it appears true enough that he befriended the French garrison, and appalled Letizia by preferring their coarse rations of black bread to the family’s meals. He was sexually normal. He had a little girlfriend whose hand he held and whom he played with happily.21 His life at home was punctuated by trips to the family’s country properties that gave glimpses of the Corsican uplands – for these excursions were not protracted – that came to grip his memories after he left home. For his first ten years his was the normal life of a child of the notables of Ajaccio.


There were very adult manoeuvrings kept well away from the two older boys, and of the siblings who followed them in quick succession – Luciano (1775, known as Lucien in France later), Maria-Anna (1777, nicknamed Elisa at school in France), Luigi (or Louis, 1778), Pauletta (Pauline, 1780), Maria-Annunziata (1782, later called Caroline) and Gerolamo (Jérôme, 1784). Through the Pietrasanta, with their presence in Bastia, Carlo used his social and intellectual skills to ingratiate himself with Marbeuf, and gained access, however limited, to a whole new dimension of patronage and possibilities. Carlo proved the ideal spy for the newly arrived Marbeuf, an able informer on the inner world of Ajaccio and of the remains of ‘Paolism’. In return, Marbeuf allowed Carlo entry into the Byzantine world of the patron–client networks of ancien régime France, which Carlo knew all too well dwarfed anything a Corsican notable could have aspired to under either Paoli or the Republic. Carlo and Don Luciano were very much the poor relations to their in-laws under the new regime, but Letizia was not, and Marbeuf, a widower, was undoubtedly captivated by her. From 1771 onwards, he came frequently to Ajaccio and paid court to her, and invited her, definitely, and Carlo, possibly, to his official residence in Bastia.


At the time speculation was rife, and has been since, as to whether this obvious infatuation escalated into an affair. It is impossible to prove, yet perhaps a few things can reasonably be asserted about the many rumours this liaison generated. It has been speculated that Marbeuf, not Carlo, was Napoleon’s real father, but Dorothy Carrington has shown how impossible this would have been: when Napoleon was conceived in Corte in early November 1768, Marbeuf was in his winter quarters elsewhere on the island, and Corte was under siege by the French. Indeed, Napoleon was, with Joseph, the only Buonaparte sibling who could not have been fathered by Marbeuf.22 Marbeuf agreed to become Napoleon’s godfather, but could not be in Ajaccio in time, and appointed a deputy, Giubega, a powerful notable from Calvi who was high in French service; he did, however, stand godfather to the Buonaparte who followed, a clear sign that the French rulers of Corsica had found themselves integrated into the roles of their predecessors under the Republic. All this would count for much, in the unforeseeable, dangerous times ahead. Behind the flamboyant face they presented to the world, Carlo and Letizia showed caution, taking out the best insurance they could for their children under what seemed a new, unshakeable hegemony, and it worked until it all came crashing down in 1789.


Napoleon owed his rapid rise to power to the Revolution, and supported it from the outset, but it proved a catastrophe for the family. Well integrated into the French system of patronage through their friendship with Marbeuf, Carlo and Letizia secured better educations and career prospects for their children than Genoese rule had afforded them, aspirations destroyed by the Revolution. The difference between the educations and early years of their four eldest children is in marked contrast to the struggle that Joseph and Napoleon had to provide for the futures of Louis, Pauline, Caroline and Jérôme in the 1790s. The transfer of Corsica to the control of the Bourbon monarchy had been a short, but real, golden age for the Buonaparte, relatively speaking. The young Napoleon soon came to sense the ‘glass ceiling’ that stifled the minor nobility under the Bourbons, rather than the opportunity his father saw flowing from entry into the service of a larger state. Napoleon became wholly ‘French’ when he came to see limitations where a Corsican notable saw only possibilities of advancement. In this sense, Napoleon and the Revolution were made for each other, but that time had yet to come.


It is only too true that Carlo would not have gained some of Marbeuf’s favours had it not been for Letizia.23 Although the relationship between Marbeuf and Letizia is, ultimately, unfathomable one way or the other, if the question is posed differently – to ask if Carlo and Luciano were capable of encouraging a real affair between them to advance the family’s collective interests – the answer might reasonably be ‘yes’. Carlo gained his position in the local court, and help with his pretensions to the Tuscan ancestry he felt he needed to qualify as a noble under French custom and law. The French commandant in Ajaccio was the comte de Narbonne, who had done much more fighting against Paoli than Marbeuf, and he suspected Carlo; Marbeuf’s higher status kept him at bay. In 1771, when Carlo stood for election to the noble house – the second estate – of the newly created Estates of Corsica and failed to win, Marbeuf had the result quashed and pushed Carlo’s candidacy through. This made him a ‘noble’, from which much else flowed. Above all, noble status gained his two sons proper French educations. Together with the young Joseph Fesch, Napoleon and Joseph were enrolled in their respective academies – Joseph and Fesch in the seminary of Aix-en-Provence, and Napoleon in the military academy at Brienne – thanks to Marbeuf’s patronage. Lucien would follow Joseph to the seminary at Aix-en-Provence in 1786, although he left under a cloud in 1789, to throw himself into Corsican politics, while the eldest sister, Maria-Anna, obtained a bursary to the prestigious girls’ college, the Maison Royale at St-Cyr, where she became known as Elisa, and excelled academically. The Buonaparte children were far from the only young Corsican notables Marbeuf helped in this way, for this was an integral part of his policy of binding the more reliable elements of the Corsican elites to their new country, but his liking for Letizia and his reliance on the Pietrasanta in a more official sense made the way much smoother for a man who had been so prominent a member of Paoli’s close entourage.


Carlo had made more than a choice in local politics when he turned from Paoli to the French, and he did more than simply set his sons on the path to better careers when he sent them off to school in France. Henceforth, the Buonaparte belonged to another culture, to another world, and the transition would prove anything but pleasurable or easy. Carlo had but pointed his children on the road; the journey through a new, alien land was left to them, and to Napoleon in particular. Even had Napoleon’s later life not become the stuff of legend, Carlo’s decision to tear them from their homeland decided the destiny of his son. The father cast the die; the son lived with the consequences.
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FRANCE: A DANGEROUS PLACE
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From Stranger to Saviour, 1779–1797





In December 1778, Napoleon and the other young Buonapartes set out for France. They went together with Carlo, first, to the Jesuit school at Autun, a cathedral town in Burgundy, where the two Josephs were to remain for some time, arriving on New Year’s Day 1779. Napoleon stayed only a few weeks, in an attempt to give him what is now termed an ‘immersion course’ in French, which had only limited success. He moved on to Brienne, to the beginning of the military life that, more than any single agency beyond his own will, would mark him the most. Napoleon’s severance from his childhood was abrupt, and he felt it acutely, yet he now entered on a career path to which he was immediately suited, and the contrast between his progress as a cadet – together with his natural affinity for institutional life – and the rude shock of being plunged, aged nine, into a new landscape, language and society obviously shook him. ‘Culture shock’ has become a debased term through trivial over-use, but it is not inappropriate to apply it to Napoleon’s state of mind over the next fifteen years, for he came to feel as at sea when he returned to Corsica as he did in France. These years spent in French military academies and quiet provincial garrisons were punctuated by increasingly traumatic brief returns ‘home’, interrupted in 1785 by the premature death of his father, probably from a hereditary form of stomach cancer that would kill Napoleon at a similar age.


It is not enough to dismiss Napoleon’s reactions to the experiences of his adolescence and early manhood by seeing them as normal in a society which sent many of its sons away to school, be that milieu the conformist French nobility or the ambitious notables of the Corsican presidii. Napoleon’s childhood in Ajaccio was markedly different from that of many of his fellow students in Brienne. He had been surrounded by an exuberant household of Mediterranean women and a warm extended family, rather than the austere, more remote traditions of the French nobility. More prosaically, he did not speak the French language well, a powerful barrier to integration, for even when he did begin to cope his peculiar accent marked him out, regional variations having long disappeared among the French upper classes, wherever their provenance. On one level, Napoleon found himself very quickly in his studies, where he mastered mathematics and the little science he was offered. Emotionally, however, Napoleon reacted to his fate by spending a great deal of time and effort trying to be things he was not. He stood defiantly apart among the French, even as all the force of a French school regime bent on making him the target of its cultural imperialism crashed down on him. He created a Corsica of the mind, much as had the young Pasquale Paoli in a similar situation. The regime at Brienne forbade returns home, save for exceptional reasons, and severely limited parental visits, circumstances which allowed the mind to shape its own vision of home, divorced from reality. Napoleon sought to become the very kind of Corsican he was not − ‘insular’, brave and tenacious in revolt, indignant and unyielding in his quest for freedom and justice.


All educated young men of the times devoured Plutarch’s heroic Lives of the Noble Greeks and Romans, readily available in a French edition that was derived from North’s sixteenth-century English translation. This was extracurricular reading, unmediated by scholarly interpretations, stories and examples the young could take to their own hearts as they wished, untarnished by the boredom induced by formal teaching. Napoleon, like the Paolis – father and son – before him, transposed the lives of the heroes of Republican Rome into the recent history of the Corsica he was now inventing for himself, one quite alien to his real heritage as a product of the culture of the presidii. He asked for histories of Corsica from his father, in particular the one written by Boswell, Paoli’s British admirer and propagandist. In the process, Napoleon came to idolise Paoli. He had a living hero, as well as dead icons, to pin his hopes on, or so he imagined. It was doomed to fail if put to the test of reality. This Corsica had nothing to do with Napoleon, but he would not find this out for many years to come.


In reality he was becoming his true self, a professional soldier, not an irregular bandit partisan, and his vocation seeped into him, almost at times in spite of himself. Napoleon learned much from this, but they were lessons about himself he was loath to admit. He had become a Frenchman, almost instinctively, but against his conscious will. He was not quite a Romantic, however much he sought solace in Romantic ideals in his cultural and emotional limbo. Romantic heroism was eventually put to the service of self-advancement, of gloire, not self-sacrifice in the name of abstract duty or a lost cause. He devoured Romantic melancholy at an age when most of his fellows did the same. The resonances of Rousseau and Goethe were powerful for a displaced adolescent, and Napoleon was surely that, yet they did not dislodge his natural energy and drive, nor turn him for long from his curiosity about the world and its ways.


Put another way, he outgrew Romanticism, although he could never own up to that. At the end of all things, on St Helena, he found a practical use for it, in constructing his memoirs in the tone that was perfect for its intended readership, a new generation imbued with Romanticism, and his own cohort, who were assured by Napoleon that no one could ever hope to understand them, not their fathers, not their sons, because of their wholly unique experience of the Revolution and his own exploits. Only the classical past – the Plutarch they had all read by candlelight under the bedcovers – could offer them any empathy. Even before St Helena, as a leader of men Napoleon was able to transform the heroism of the ancient world into a very tangible source of inspiration. His ability to transmit this to his armies ‘made everyone feel they could be classical heroes’, as Luigi Mascilli Migliorini has put it.1 Napoleon was the rationalisation of Romanticism. He got his generation and the next right, and used the ripened fruit of his early self-delusion to feed them their dreams of glory.


These early years were full of the mistakes and delusions that evoke, eventually, the true character of a man. No institutional programme or intellectual current can hope to dominate so powerful an intellect or strong a will as that possessed by Napoleon, but youth is a vulnerable time, and Napoleon’s youth was more vulnerable than many. His individual character can be seen less in the way he followed the herd into Romantic melancholy and classical heroism, and more in the way he absorbed them in later life by bending them to his own will.




*





Brienne proved a formidable proposition, even for so singular a spirit. In its daily life and curriculum, the nine-year-old Napoleon confronted the well-honed system of assimilation to the most advanced culture in Europe, and it imposed itself on him, more than any other influence he ever encountered. Napoleon was always grateful for his education, and he admitted it had made of him a Frenchman. He fought it, however. When Napoleon confessed his intrinsic ‘Frenchness’, he openly admitted defeat. He was probably sent to Brienne because, among the twelve royal military academies, it happened to have a vacancy at the time. The environs of this small town in the northern region of Champagne could not have been more different from Corsica; it was surrounded by an expanse of open fields covered by vines and wheat, where in winter the harsh east wind whips across the North European Plain from the Baltic. Though he went there more by chance than design, the French monarchy could not have chosen a more alien environment for its new subject.


Napoleon arrived in April 1779, the first time he had ever been separated from his brother Joseph. The school was part of an experiment that was soon to end. Perplexed by their continued military failures in the course of the eighteenth century, the French monarchy heeded a particular line of Enlightened thought that argued environment was the key to forming character, and created scholarships for the children of the minor nobility to attend military academies where the atmosphere was designed to shape future officers. The schools also attracted the sons of greater noble families, as they offered the surest path to military careers. The monarchy would soon despair of this, when defeat in war continued, and it turned to the recommendations of the marquis de Ségur, whose committee of inquiry proposed a shift from the ‘institutional approach’ to one predicated on family upbringing, assuming that only noble families with very long military traditions could produce officer material. His findings were accepted with modifications, and would have excluded Napoleon, but they were presented to the King’s Council only in 1789, months before the old order collapsed.2


As with all the educational institutions under the French monarchy, Brienne was run by a religious order, the Minor Franciscans, although much of the teaching was done by laymen, again very much the norm by the late eighteenth century. It was a small establishment of about 110 boys, of whom 45 were recipients of state scholarships; that is, they were from poor noble families, and Napoleon was of their number.3 It was a mixture of the monastic and the military, in that the boys slept in their individual, very spartan cells, rather than in large dormitories, and corporal punishment was rare, but the common denominator of the life of the cloister and that of the barracks was austerity. Life may not have been harsh, but it was very hard, and Napoleon seems to have had no qualms about it.


Brienne inculcated in him his frugality, his aversion to ease and his iron self-discipline. The habits he acquired there followed him across the battlefields of Europe, and were so ingrained that the luxuries his later triumphs offered him were politely declined. Napoleon might seize the best palace in Cairo or Vienna for his headquarters, but he usually slept in his camp bed. When Napoleon first read Rousseau’s diatribes against the modern world and its corruption of morals, and his railings against the degenerative power of wealth, it all came quite naturally to a young man who thrived on the austere egalitarianism of Brienne. When he encountered the relative luxury of the military school in Paris after he left Brienne, with its servants, its expensive surroundings and elaborate meals, he complained that this not only distracted the cadets from their studies, but weakened them for future service: 




Since they are all … destined for military service, is that not the sole and real education they should receive? Subjected to a sober life, to take care of their appearance, they will become more robust, able to brave the rigours of the seasons, to bear the strains of war with courage, and above all, to inspire respect and blind devotion from the soldiers who will be under their orders.4





Brienne left its mark on Napoleon. If Corsica had become an unreal dream, Plutarch’s ancient, and Rousseau’s modern, theoretical Sparta – made real in Brienne – were his daily routine. He had been practising what he preached for some time, it seems. On her only visit to him at Brienne, in 1782, Letizia was shocked to find her son so thin and gaunt. He probably saw himself as ‘lean and keen’.


The available records suggest that Napoleon worked hard. The inspector of the military academies, the chevalier de Keralio, obviously saw promise in him and marked him down as a model pupil in his report of 1781. When, towards the end of his time at Brienne, in 1784, Napoleon asked to apply for the navy, de Keralio supported his request. This was something of an accolade, for the navy had become a highly sought-after branch of the service among the brightest, but least well-connected, students at the academies. Its standing had risen enormously after its successes against the British during the American Revolution, and it had been the object of great financial investment by the state. Above all, the navy required considerable intelligence and technical expertise from its officers. De Keralio obviously felt Napoleon had all these attributes, but he had not had the requisite six years at the school, and so de Keralio’s recommendations were set aside. Napoleon opted for the obvious alternative, the artillery, then the most technologically sophisticated branch of the service, and in the midst of major reforms and advances.5 Naval warfare would emerge as one of Napoleon’s worst blind spots as a strategist during his abortive attempt to invade England, revealing a profound ignorance of every aspect of the sea. History can be made by bureaucratic rigidity as much as by the abstract forces of climate and geography, or the will of the ‘Great Man’. Napoleon did not go to the great naval base of Toulon yet – when he did, it was to make his name as an artillery expert against the British fleet in 1793 – but to the military school in Paris, which he attended for not quite a year, from October 1784 until September 1785, when he passed out forty-second of fifty-eight, a creditable record given his brief stay, if hardly outstanding.


Napoleon’s schooldays are shrouded in myth, much of it improbable. Even how he got there was subjected to fantasy, by his father Carlo, who claimed in his memoir that he took the boys via Florence, where they had an audience with the model enlightened monarch of the age, Peter-Leopold, the Habsburg Grand Duke. Napoleon and Joseph lied like troopers to the end of their lives that this was true, in the face of its obvious impossibility. Philip Dwyer has astutely pointed to the incongruity of de Keralio’s report on Napoleon as a model, well-behaved student and the carefully cultivated myth – begun by himself as soon as he was in a position to write his own story – of a rebellious, sullen outsider.6 There are various ‘epic moments’ of the myth that actually sit awkwardly with other aspects of it. Napoleon was supposed to have displayed his early prowess as a commander when he organised a particularly heroic snowball fight in the schoolyard, yet it is highly unlikely that such an unpopular boy would ever have been able to lead his peers in this way.


Nevertheless, the realities of Brienne and much of Napoleon’s behaviour in the army after he left it, and especially his youthful attempts at literature, reveal deeper currents of loathing and rebelliousness – the rage of the displaced person – than anything concocted later. Napoleon did, indeed, endure the snobbery of the sons of the higher nobility that the ethos of Brienne was meant to stamp out, in order to amalgamate the boys into a homogeneous corps, and he was taunted for his accent by all and sundry. He may or may not have taken it out on them at the time, as he wanted the world to believe, but he certainly did so when he put pen to paper, while on garrison duty after leaving Paris in 1785.


His rage manifested itself in a Corsican patriotism that exploded into nothing short of hatred of the French. As Andy Martin, who has delved into Napoleon’s literary output, has said: ‘Existence was struggle and writing was resistance – a series of guerrilla raids on the canon and the big guns of French history. Words were actions.’7 He stabbed with his pen, with all the ferocity and venom of the dispossessed victim he felt he had become. He seems to have been planning to write a vitriolic, anti-French history of Corsica from about the age of sixteen, but the closest he got was the unpublished – and unpublishable – Novella Corsa, probably written in 1791. Many of his other writings, such as ‘On Suicide’, where he describes his own death, were ‘fashionable’ in a generation in thrall to the tragic hero of Goethe’s roman-à-clef, The Sorrows of Young Werther, and Napoleon was no exception to this. He retained his admiration for the book and its author all his life, but his writings in this vein are signs of his assimilation less to France, than to what might fairly be called the ‘youth culture’ of late eighteenth-century Europe. The Novella Corsa was something quite different, however. It juxtaposes an unspoilt, innocent Corsica to the corrupt, morally degenerate French invaders, the last in a long succession of brutal outsiders who arrive to ‘rape’ the island. Its central figure is an Englishman, shipwrecked on Corsica, through whose intelligent but alien eyes the story is told. The choice of an English protagonist was far from innocent; it was a political statement, for, at the time, Paoli was in exile in London, a much admired figure in its salons and working hard to win British support for a new rebellion. Even Napoleon’s supposedly deeply personal ‘On Suicide’ turns into a political statement, for a major cause of his imagined mental collapse is not existential, but highly topical and public: ‘Frenchmen! Not content with having carried off all that we cherish, you have also corrupted our morals!’8 He could never quite leave the real world around him for the aesthetic realm of true invention, and this failure revealed more of his true nature than he probably ever realised. Napoleon was a ‘political animal’, however hard he tried to be something more ‘profound’.


Napoleon the ‘novelist’ and essayist of the late 1780s and early 1790s emerges as not just a fervent Corsican nationalist, but as an anti-colonialist. While still at Brienne, he had devoured one of the most widely read and controversial books of the age, the Abbé Raynal’s History of the Two Indies, first published in 1770 and widely translated – most of it was actually ghost-written by Diderot – a work which has rightly been seen as the founding text of anti-imperialist discourse. Napoleon absorbed its message of the cynical, avaricious European exploitation of the rest of the world – the East and West Indies of the title – and applied the process to Corsica. It was a perceptive intellectual breakthrough on his part, and a theory that remains as potent as it is contentious, that the ruthless process of colonialism began and continued to be applied, not just to the ‘other’ of the extra-European world, but to Europeans by ‘fellow’ Europeans. Raynal’s book had been subjected to harsh censorship by the more relaxed standards of the late eighteenth century, when many disciples of Voltaire within the French establishment infiltrated the Church-controlled censorship apparatus, and exercised a lighter touch than the norms stipulated.9 Not when it came to Raynal. In 1780, when Raynal allowed a new edition to appear under his own name, a warrant for his arrest was issued, his book was burned publicly by the royal executioner and he fled abroad, returning only in 1785, and settling in Marseille.10


Seen in this context, the young Napoleon’s views were more subversive still, and he was quick to make contact with his idol, second only in his personal pantheon to Paoli among the living. In 1786, now an officer in Valence, relatively close to Marseille, Napoleon wrote Raynal what amounted to a fan letter, and set out his views on the colonial condition of Corsica. Raynal encouraged his hopes to write a thorough-going anti-imperialist history of the island, and soon invited him to join his salon. Napoleon became a frequent participant and vocal contributor to Raynal’s salon in Marseille, even after he had moved further north, to Auxonne.


His adherence to the ways of the French intelligentsia was just as evident when he entered that most Enlightened of events, the essay competition. This format of open competition for a cash prize put up by a salon had catapulted Rousseau to fame and, when Raynal offered a large sum for an essay ‘On Happiness’, in 1791, Napoleon cut himself off from the world in order to write. He failed to secure the prize, but his determination to win acceptance is all too evident from the copious notebooks he compiled in the attempt. Napoleon is often derided as a parvenu, a desperate, insecure arriviste, and his obsession with this competition reveals that, in these years at least, this was part of him, even as he clung to his Corsican patriotism.11 If he was being patronised by the French liberal elite, he did not notice, or did not mind, and his ideas on colonialism – for he put his own interpretation on ‘Happiness’ – imposed on Europeans by Europeans truly did push the limits of the acceptable, and still do.


Napoleon’s own career as the greatest of European imperialists laces all this with irony, for no imperial hegemony ever sought to impose itself so rigidly, or displayed such contempt for non-French European cultures, as his own. Yet the colossal ironies of the future should not obscure the incongruities that surrounded Napoleon’s adhesion to Raynal and his salon at the time it happened. Napoleon, the aspiring scourge of French colonialism – economic, political, cultural – craved admission to the very society he so sincerely hated. By seeking out the salon, and trying to integrate himself into it, Napoleon revealed how assimilated into French culture he had become; he looked to the oppressor for approval, less by turning to Raynal, who was sincere in his loathing of the conduct of his fellow Europeans, than by throwing himself into the cultural medium itself, for the salon remained the symbol of French civilisation, and Napoleon’s own imperial servants always saw it, and its social rituals, as the benchmark of true civilisation. Napoleon at seventeen did not see the incongruity, so much a part of French society had he now become. His eagerness to enter this milieu reveals him unconsciously being himself – pushing his way into the heart of the world he had been partially absorbed in at Brienne – while the views he expounded sat ill with this same integration.


On paper, Napoleon was desperate less to assert his real, suppressed sense of self than to escape both his acquired French identity and, even more, his family background. The ‘subaltern’, oppressed Corsica from which Paoli had sprung was not his, for he was one of the oppressors; he was a scion of the Ajaccio ‘garrison’, wholly and completely. How aware Napoleon actually was of this, after a youth spent divorced from the realities of the island, is far from evident. His vision of himself as at one with the Corsicans of the interior was probably genuine, sharpened by the snubs he endured at school and the frustrations of his career. Nevertheless, he knew his family had begun as outsiders – whether as the Ligurian colonists of fact, or the Tuscan nobles of fiction – and his Novella Corsa and the papers he gave to Raynal’s gatherings were, at a semi-conscious level, exercises in ‘post-colonial guilt’. They show Napoleon’s most impassioned efforts to be something he was not, whereas the manner and setting of their exposition reveal him as the French bourgeois he had become.




*





The death of Carlo in 1785 transformed Napoleon. He still clung to his youthful passions, personal and political, but he emerged as the leader of a family deep in debt and in need of a champion in the courts and among the authorities. Many stories, some true, some false, some embroidered, float about Napoleon’s early years, seeking to detect the early master and commander, but the real proof of these innate qualities exists in his determination to shoulder responsibility for his mother and siblings. Don Luciano was now old and ill with gout; Joseph soon revealed himself unfit for the task of arguing and harrying, if not for quiet negotiation. While still in his teens, Napoleon showed himself someone ready to face up to difficulties. It was Napoleon, while still a schoolboy, who took it upon himself to collect his father’s papers and go to Paris, to try to arrange his outstanding affairs and ensure the family got his pension; it was he who wrote to the head of the seminary in Aix-en-Provence to apologise for Lucien’s misconduct, while he himself was supposed to be serving with his first regiment.12 Napoleon rose to this challenge, having no qualms about writing directly to the Intendant of Corsica, or to the Controllor-General of Finances in Paris – the King’s first minister – to press cases concerning the family. Carlo had begun a public-spirited project to drain marshland close to Ajaccio, and, when the promised government aid did not arrive, it was the seventeen-year-old Napoleon who reminded the Intendant of his promise of financial aid, while also asking him to pay for Lucien’s education at Aix, for the family had suffered the double blow of the death of Marbeuf, its patron, in 1786, which really did leave Napoleon alone as its head.13 A year later, he badgered both the Intendant and Loménie de Brienne, the Controller-General, about the marshland, and Carlo’s ambition to see it planted with mulberry trees to provide the basis for a silk industry in Ajaccio.14 The problems he encountered were clear lessons to Napoleon that Corsica was a distant, unheeded outpost of France, but the process also taught him that the monarchy was an unjust and inefficient regime. More than this, almost subconsciously, he reacted to these difficulties as a typical notable of the presidio: litigious, persistent, determined to defend his family’s patrimony and to realise his father’s hopes. Certainly, this stiffened his dislike of the French, and reinforced his sense of injustice, but it also shows how deeply he respected Carlo’s legacy.


Just as much has been fabricated about Letizia as the embodiment of ‘the true, pure, Corsica’ as about Napoleon’s relationship with Carlo, after his departure for Brienne, which has usually been portrayed as that of a son resentful of his father’s treasonous collaboration with the French. Relations between father and son have been depicted as angry, as Napoleon branded him a collaborator, a traitor to Paoli and to his people. There is very little to support this, and Paoli certainly never felt this way about Carlo, for when Paoli returned to Corsica in 1790 the young Buonaparte were initially welcomed by him, evoking Carlo’s loyalty to ‘the cause’ and to Paoli personally. Whatever rancour there may have been between father and son, it did not last long, and Napoleon – from the outset – showed loyalty to Carlo’s hopes, whether for urban renewal or the advancement of his siblings in the French system, and real affection for him. Napoleon’s venomous anti-French feelings did not include Carlo, at least not when it mattered, when he had to take his place as the head of the family.


Nor did his hatred of the French extend to women. It was on one of the visits to Paris on family business, probably in 1787, that he lost his virginity to a young prostitute he met around the cheap restaurants of the Palais Royal, one of the more rakish if down-at-heel parts of the city. He said he was moved by her tale of woe, and spent his first night ever with a woman. It may or not be so but it is a tale pedestrian enough to be true.


Napoleon’s absences from his postings, after leaving military academy, were protracted to say the least, between 1786 and 1793, but he had good reason for them. If ambition played a part in his long trips to Corsica and then Paris, he was not just – or even primarily – trying to advance himself, but to protect his family from ruin, as the Revolution brought new tensions to Corsica. If he often neglected his routine duties as an officer, he never shirked the more demanding problems of leading his now fatherless and patronless family. He was a leader born, and there is no need to mythologise the fact.




*





Garrison life was not that dull or fruitless for Napoleon when he was there, but it drove home to him, as it did to many others of his generation, the disappointments of professional service under the Bourbon monarchy and the sheer boredom of peacetime. He had some fine senior officers at Valence and then at Auxonne, between 1785 and 1789. Once assigned to artillery regiments, he escaped the worst of army snobbery, the scions of the great houses preferring the cavalry or older infantry regiments. He was among other bright technocrats, from whom he learned much, both from their own ideas and experience, and from the modern reading on tactics and scientific advances to which they introduced him. Uturbie, in Valence, and then Du Teil and Gassendi, in Auxonne, were leaders in the field of modern thinking about gunnery and wider issues, such as the quality and production of gunpowder, range-finding and the manufacture of cannon, all of which they drew from scientific knowledge. This led Napoleon to interest himself in scientific theory, to an intensive study of chemistry and calculus, and to an abiding passion for astronomy, derived from the study of lenses, that stayed with him all his life, and which he imposed on secondary schooling in France almost as soon as he had the power. His commanding officers opened his mind to science, and also to the concept of a more mobile approach to warfare. It was a seed time, for all the ennui of garrison life. It also pulled him in the opposite direction from Romanticism, but he did not really grasp the struggle within him. The quiet world of provincial, sedentary soldiering had thus been punctuated often enough by the demands of family, but in 1789 it came crashing down.


THE FRENCH REVOLUTION: THE END OF ALL THINGS, 1789–1793


The French Revolution changed the whole world, for ever. It marks a watershed in human experience, but no one saw their world more changed than the Buonaparte, and few places saw more change than Corsica, when the pillars of the old monarchy cracked, definitively, in the spring and summer of 1789. From the outset, the French revolutionary governments posed a series of stark choices to the society they ruled. It was impossible to avoid taking sides, however reluctantly, and it was even more impossible to avoid the results of those choices. They had to be lived with. The people of Corsica – the most remote in the new French nation – were no exception to this, Napoleon included. Even so powerful a will as his had choices imposed on him and had to face their consequences.


The origins of the French Revolution remain one of the most tortuous subjects in history, but by the late 1780s it was clear to all that France was in crisis and that the institutions of the absolute monarchy had reached an impasse about how to reform a state all felt to be in desperate need of change. On the one hand, the monarchy believed it needed more powers to raise revenue, and a more powerful, centralised administration to do so, thus challenging the traditional privileges not just of the Church and nobility, but of the French provinces and many private individuals who had acquired exemptions from some taxes and duties. This view was opposed with increasing frequency, and in ever more vehement language, by the Parlements, courts of appeal led by a magistracy which had noble status, one of whose tasks was to pronounce on the legality of royal legislation. Long-present tensions became urgent when France proved powerless to intervene to its advantage in a civil war that erupted in the Dutch Republic, and the Controller-General, Calonne, pronounced the state bankrupt. The monarchy and the Parlements called each other’s bluff and chose to break the institutional impasse by summoning a body representing the entire realm, the Estates General, to meet in Versailles in May 1789 to discuss Calonne’s reform project. The Estates General had not met since 1614, and there were explosive arguments about its powers and composition when it finally met. Divided as it was into three orders – the clergy, nobility and the commons (the first, second and third estates) – and elected, within each order, on a remarkably inclusive, quasi-democratic franchise, the meeting of the Estates General marked an unheralded watershed in French history. For the first time, ever, an elected assembly existed for the whole realm, as opposed to similar bodies which had a permanent existence only in specific provinces like Brittany, Languedoc or, indeed, Corsica. New men, hundreds of them, were now brought unwittingly into the corridors of power, and a new generation of leaders, unique in human history, was created at a stroke. The calling of the Estates General in the spring of 1789 began the voyage of this generation of men whose experience Napoleon would incarnate. They would change the world, and Napoleon, once their overlord, would change them. They marked themselves out as special from the very beginning, by seizing their chance with both hands while they could.


The deputies of the Third Estate quickly found common intellectual and ideological ground and seized the initiative, declaring themselves the true sovereign body of the nation, the only institution with legitimate authority to rule, and set about drawing up a constitution for France which promised a permanent, elected legislature as the new centre of power and authority. In so doing, they reduced the king, Louis XVI, to a constitutional monarch, still possessed of important powers, particularly in the realm of diplomacy and war, but hardly the absolute ruler he had been before he had summoned the Estates General, which soon rechristened itself the National Assembly. Louis had lost the initiative, but many of the reforms driven through during 1789−90 were not distasteful to him, should he be able to rid himself of their creators. On the night of 4 August 1789, the Assembly abolished all forms of privilege, swept away the old provinces of France and soon replaced them with a rational, uniform system of departments – of which Corsica was one – administered by elected committees. Freedom of religion was decreed and soon all Church properties would be ‘nationalised’, the regular orders abolished and, by the Civil Constitution of the Clergy of 1790, the only arm of the Church remaining, the bishops and parish priests, became part of the civil service. The Assembly soon began demanding allegiance from its officials, the clergy included, by public oaths, which caused much unease. The debates over the new Constitution, essentially over how inclusive the franchise was to be, would tear the revolutionaries apart in the years to come, while Louis bided his time and planned to reassert his power.


Unprecedented upheaval at the apex of the state led to disorder elsewhere. The vast unrest which swept France presented the Assembly with a dangerous choice: it could ask Louis to unleash the army to restore order, but then risk him turning it on them, or it could ‘ride the tiger’ of popular tumult and keep Louis paralysed. The deputies chose the latter course, and retained power at the centre, however tattered their new regime may have looked beyond Paris. It was the their best course. However, there was soon more popular violence in Paris, where the Assembly had transferred itself and soon dragged Louis along with it, first to protect the Assembly from the threat of a coup by the king. The riots were also designed to coerce the deputies into agreeing to concessions for the city. Tax strikes and attacks on noble properties, the burning of government tax rolls in the towns and the sacking of many chateaux in the countryside marked this first phase of the Revolution, while the new generation of politicians manoeuvred for power in the uncertain but energising new political culture – and the gaping power vacuum – they had created for themselves.


The new legislators revelled in rhetoric and forged many lofty phrases: ‘liberty, equality, fraternity’ – although not actually coined until much later – still serves as the best known and all-encompassing of them. What really drove them was the desire that dared not speak its name in the atmosphere of self-declared selflessness and national unity in which politicians of all factions swathed themselves: ambition. This ambition was often as selfless as selfish, for the new leaders couched their concepts of citizenship in the terms and images of the early Roman Republic they had absorbed from Plutarch, part of their common culture. The pervading belief among both those who were out for themselves and those who were genuinely committed to self-sacrifice for the Revolution was that they could run the nation better than the traditional ruling class, and this kept them together for some time.


Napoleon shared their feelings. In a letter to Don Luciano in late March 1789, he set out his views on the last ministers of the old order: Necker, a Swiss Protestant and an outsider, had saved the finances in the 1770s, while a noble, Taboureau – ‘who was only a phantom’ – held the official post. Returned to power at the height of the 1789 crisis, Necker was now proving inept at handling the Estates General, lost in the new world of open politics. Calonne, Necker’s aristocratic rival and a product of the ancien régime establishment, ‘ran the state’s finances as he did his own. He ruined himself, and he ruined the kingdom’, while having Necker forced into exile. Brienne, who overthrew Calonne, was intelligent and enlightened; he carried out useful reforms at the apex of the state, ‘[b]ut the deficit had to be cut and current expenditure had to be paid’, and all Brienne could do was borrow; the Parlements simply blocked him.15 None of them had the answer, in Napoleon’s eyes. They were a spent force, taken together. His judgement was not infallibe, for Calonne became something of an éminence grise to his own regime; many of his staff went on to play powerful roles in Napoleon’s councils; above all, Napoleon turned to many of the ideas that Calonne fought, unsuccessfully, to implement on the eve of the Revolution, when the revolutionary reforms later began to flounder. Nevertheless, Napoleon’s attitude to his present masters was very much of the times. A few weeks later, the ‘glass ceiling’ of ancien régime privilege seemed gone; elections opened the way for new men to reach for a national, as well as a local, platform for advancement. The new regime declared the one maxim to which all its successors would cling, ‘the career open to talent’. Like the Rousseau of the Venice embassy or Figaro, many had now had their revenge, and were poised to rise in the world. This was the spirit in which frustrated men like the Buonaparte brothers – Joseph, Napoleon and even the young Lucien – threw themselves into the Revolution. When Napoleon lambasted Buttafoco, the leader of the Corsican nobility in the Estates General, for his opposition to the Revolution and its reforms, he called him a man ‘who hides under an intelligent exterior, the greed of a valet’.16 It was a long tirade, defending Paoli from Buttafoco’s accusations of treason, but Napoleon put a very telling sting in its tail. Buttafoco may have been the closest thing to a noble Corsica could summon, but to Napoleon, he was nothing but the lackey of a dead world. The contempt for the past is palpable.


Napoleon’s only conscious objective was that Corsica gain from the Revolution, but by adopting this vision of the future he turned his back on the cause of independence. It was a gigantic step. He had thrown in his fate with that of France, yet, as with so many defining acts, it did not come from meditation, but from something almost instinctive. Napoleon had become a Frenchman by second nature, a second nature born of the Revolution. The opportunities Carlo had sought for him had not been there, under the old order. They were now. Even so, the seismic events of the first years of the French Revolution did not immediately change Napoleon’s view of the past. He continued to feel passionately about Corsica’s abuse at the hands of the colonial masters of the Bourbon monarchy, as in his Letters on Corsica to Raynal, written in 1790. The Revolution, however, had galvanised Napoleon’s view of his adopted country and the possibilities it offered his island, and to men like himself. In June 1789, he wrote to his godfather, Giubega, at the moment when the fate of the new Constituent Assembly in Paris hung in the balance and the king seemed ready to crush it, of his hopes that ‘centuries of feudal barbarism’ would soon be over, and that representative government would end the rule of a regime whose ‘insolent hand we have to kiss as it oppresses us … a degree of ignominy that shames me’. There was hope, however, for France would soon have a written constitution and a monarch who was no longer absolute; its administration and system of justice were being rationalised under his eyes.17


In 1789–91, his preoccupation remained the position of Corsica in this new political order, and he had to hope Paoli saw it in the same terms. For this reason Napoleon was soon at real odds with Matteo Buttafoco, not just dealing out ritual insults. Buttafoco became a rallying point for those opposed both to the Revolutionary reforms and to the return of Paoli. Napoleon had to hope that Paoli wanted to make common cause with those, like himself and his brothers, who now saw France rather than independence as the future. It all makes the words he supposedly wrote to Paoli – ‘30,000 French [troops] have been vomited up on our coasts’ – all the less likely to be true. There is no doubt that Napoleon was a ‘revolutionary of the first hour’, and he risked his position in Corsica because of this. Buttafoco and many who had transferred their loyalties easily from the Genoese to the French – personified by his mother’s family – were now set against the sons of Carlo Buonaparte.


Meanwhile, Joseph and Lucien, having left their seminary in Aix-en-Provence, became determined spokesmen for the new order in the political clubs of Toulon and Marseille. They, not Napoleon, were the Buonapartes at the forefront of the new order. Lucien made his name as a radical firebrand in Toulon and Joseph returned to Corsica to seek election to the new departmental administration. Paoli, their father’s patron and leader, returned to the island in 1790. Should Paoli embrace the Revolution, they could assume their father’s mantle in his entourage. If not, they would be on narrow ground. It came to depend on the course of the Revolution itself, something no one in Corsica could control.


Napoleon’s movements from the outbreak of the Revolution in the spring of 1789, until 1793, were tortuous, as he bounced back and forth between his official postings in the Rhône Valley and Ajaccio no fewer than five times, with a stay in Paris between May and September 1792, one of the most turbulent periods of the whole Revolution.


As Napoleon dashed between France and Corsica in these months, something fundamental was going on in his mind. His thoughts on how to to master the Revolutionary crisis were clarifying. Napoleon watched his world with a careful eye, certainly when in France, and drew lasting lessons from it all. More than many others, he was at the mercy of events, but he increasingly realised the nature of the threat as well as the promise. Initially, while his brothers did the talking, Napoleon watched events in France unfold from the vantage point of his provincial garrison. It proved a useful position, and drew from him thoughts that proved of lasting importance for the development of his ideas and for the character of his regime once he achieved power.


Napoleon and Joseph showed their commitment to the Revolution in the way many bourgeois families did, when they bought some of the very first nationalised Church property to come up for sale in Ajaccio, overcoming the initial scruples of their young uncle, Joseph Fesch, the only family member still in holy orders.18 This was more than just a way of profiting from the fall of the old order, although it was certainly that, for to buy former Church property put the purchaser firmly on the side of the Revolution. Royal displeasure at these reforms ensured that those who did so were effectively ‘blacklisted’, a threat that did not remain idle as resistance to the Revolution grew. When Napoleon, early in his tenure of office, was unequivocal in his support for all who had bought these ‘national lands’ – the biens nationaux – against the court-in-exile, he stood among his own. Nevertheless, from his observations on the growing anarchy around him in eastern France, Napoleon emerges as anything but a blind optimist, however strong his revolutionary convictions. His words to Joseph, in the aftermath of the momentous reforms of the night of 4 August 1789, are more of a window on his character than all his literary excursions, his memoirs included:







All that is brilliant, but it still only exists on paper. I forgot to tell you that all the provinces have renounced their particular rights. That is a great step for the best. They are very busy with the Constitution, but they are going very slowly. They babble too much.19





These laconic words, in their very terseness, give the true mark of the man. Napoleon saw the new unity of the nation, made possible by the abolition of provincial privileges, as a vital step forward, and no single man of the era would do more to forge a highly centralised state while in power. His impatience – budding contempt – for the new parliamentarians and their convoluted debates on the new constitution presages his later disregard for elected assemblies, just as it shows an acute early awareness of the dangers ahead for the Revolution, for this was the issue that tore the early consensus to shreds. Yet, when in search of Napoleon’s character as opposed to his views, the words ‘but it only exists on paper’ say the most. The early ruthlessness of the revolutionaries may have put an end to those institutions Napoleon – following his acute grasp of Rousseau – had said ‘set man at odds with himself’,20 but he did not then assume the new order would fall naturally into place. He had seen action putting down a riot in the small Burgundian town of Seurre, in the summer of 1789, which left him in no doubt about the hard road ahead, even before the Estates General had met.21 There was caution and a degree of intelligent pessimism in his character, which was essential to the hard task of turning reforms into reality. When the mantle of leadership came to Napoleon after 1799, this cast of mind, present here long before the Revolution turned sour and vicious, was what, finally, made real the reforms he chose to pursue.


This cautious pessimism was an attitude Napoleon shared with Paoli, when ‘the father’ returned to Corsica from exile in London in 1790 and embraced the sons of Carlo. Joseph was able to settle permanently in Ajaccio and was by far the more prominent of the two brothers in local politics, but, as the Revolution began to change course, both Joseph and Lucien – yet not Napoleon – began to fall foul of Paoli. Paoli quickly ensconced himself in Corte, his old stronghold and that of his core supporters, rather than in Bastia, the official capital of the new department formed by the island. Paoli was dismissive of the material improvements the French had made in their attempt to win over the Corsicans, such as roads that ‘led nowhere’ as there was no commerce to pass over them, just as he disparaged the attempts of Carlo Buonaparte and his associates to foster mulberry groves and silk production, because there was little good soil, and it was goats that mattered for the poor, not cash crops for the rich. This was a clear marker thrown down that, for the 65-year-old Babbù, his stronghold was still the mountains, and that his people were the ‘insulars’.22 This was not necessarily a bad omen for the elites of the presidii, but as events in France created ever hardening divisions, circumstances in Corsica led to new fissures developing along the atavistic fault lines between the mountains and the coast, between the ‘insulars’ and the settlers. It was not inevitable, but that was what happened.


Initially, all Corsicans, royalists, radical revolutionaries or neither, shared the common fear that France would rid itself of the island. To these exposed communities the assertion of the National Assembly in 1789 that it was indissolubly part of the nation was empty rhetoric. In November 1790, there had been talk in the Assembly of handing Corsica over to the Papacy as compensation for the seizure of Avignon, a papal enclave in France; more ominously, Corsica had been excluded from the new internal free-trade area created by the abolition of all provincial privileges – tolls included – after 4 August.23 Paoli, like Napoleon, saw great advantages for Corsica within a reformed France, if it could count on remaining part of it.


As the Revolution changed course, however, tensions rose within the complex political world of the island. The Civil Constitution of the Clergy produced very little trouble among the Corsican secular clergy; only a tiny minority refused to take the oath of loyalty to the new regime, but the abolition of the regular orders led to disturbances in both the mountains and in Bastia and Ajaccio. The Masonic lodge of Bastia was destroyed by an angry mob, and Paoli – one of the most prominent Masons in Europe – began to distance himself from his brothers, to maintain his popular standing. When order was restored, however, it was by his militias raised in the mountains, which unnerved the city more than the initial riots.24 In 1791, when Louis XVI tried to flee Paris and was captured at Varennes, a significant wedge was driven between the Corsican elites who had integrated themselves with the French since 1769, and Paoli, who remained unmoved by this and supported the anti-monarchist government that began to emerge. His stand kept his links to revolutionaries like the Buonaparte brothers intact, while Buttafoco and others followed the lead of many French nobles and emigrated. More worrying than emigration for many in the presidii was the vengeance taken on the émigrés by Paoli’s militia, who sacked their properties and harassed their remaining families in a manner more akin to traditional insular vendetta than revolutionary justice.25 The advent of war with Austria and Prussia posed a new threat to Corsica, for it was a vulnerable outpost, made worse still when Britain – and its Mediterranean fleet – entered the war against France early in 1793.


Napoleon had spent more of the period 1790−2 in France than in Corsica, but the build-up to war led to the creation of a new citizen army with elected officers, and he saw his chance to claim a place in local politics at last. When he returned to Ajaccio in April 1791, he was elected lieutenant-colonel of the second battalion of the Ajaccio National Guard. Amidst fears that the French regular troops in Ajaccio would turn against the Revolution, an affray broke out on 8 April between Napoleon’s men and the regulars, but this was followed by something far more serious. The next day, the town was seized by a general fear that insular National Guards were advancing on Ajaccio to support the regular troops. Napoleon and his superior, Quenza, armed both their men and the general population against a force of mountain shepherds who were wintering with their flocks nearby, and who were loyal to Paoli, and who were ordered to attack Ajaccio by the authorities in Corte, also nominally under Paoli. Martial law was declared in Ajaccio, and it seems clear that Napoleon ignored calls for a ceasefire; his battalion opened up on the shepherds, driving them off. This made him a hero to the town and even more to its Jacobin club, the hub of pro-Revolutionary loyalty, of which Joseph was a leading light. It was a striking instance of traditional, atavistic enmities being rekindled by the new pressures of the Revolution. In the face of a nightmare that had haunted the presidio since 1492, all the new political rivalries and older family conflicts within the walls were suspended. Charles-André Pozzo di Borgo, who became Napoleon’s most determined enemy, made common cause with the Buonaparte brothers at the prospect of the ‘insulars’ storming the walls; they were, in that moment, ‘as thick as thieves’, in the words of the historian of these events.26


The crisis really began in response to the overthrow of the monarchy in August 1792 and the declaration of the Republic. Paoli’s loyalty was deeply questioned by many Revolutionaries on the island over the winter of 1792−3, and in Paris. Napoleon went to Paris at this time in an effort to clear Paoli’s name with the new Revolutionary assembly, the National Convention, and witnessed the violence of 10 August, when the armed people of Paris stormed Louis’ palace, the Tuileries – later Napoleon’s own residence – and butchered his Swiss Guards. The bloodbath did not shock Napoleon as much as the anarchy he felt attended it. In his eyes, the mob had taken hold of the politicians, and he recalled in his memoirs the fear and loathing he felt when stopped in the street by drunken men ‘with hideous faces’ who seemed, in those days, to be running the world. Napoleon had no real qualms about what they did, for the old monarchy was rotten to the core and Louis unfit to lead a great nation. Yet this was not the victory of the able and the clever but of the dregs of society. He had seen the peasantry ‘off the leash’ in Seurre, and the provincial populace on the rampage in Auxonne. Now the capital itself was in the grip of the mob. To a generation steeped in the history of the late Roman Republic, where similar scenes were drawn so luridly by Plutarch and Sallust, it seemed that all was on the point of being lost. Fearing for his sister’s safety, Napoleon withdrew Elisa from St-Cyr, leaving Paris on 15 September. His calculations were precise, for the city saw a bloodbath directed against suspected ‘fifth columnists’ – mainly the clergy, prisoners and royalist sympathisers – on 21−2 September, which did not spare convent girls. He brought her back to what he hoped would be the safety of Corsica.


Things turned out very differently. The unity of the Paolisti in Corte was beginning to fragment, as some of them, uneasy at the radical turn the Revolution had taken – the deposition of Louis, the destruction of the 1791 Constitution and the declaration of the Republic – returned to hopes of independence. Paoli remained unmoved by this, although many around him were trying to change his mind and, as the new government in Paris became aware of this, its suspicions grew once more. The revolution of 10 August 1792, which led to the creation of the National Convention and the declaration of the Republic, necessitated fresh elections in Corsica for deputies to Paris. Angered that he had failed to win a seat, Joseph provoked a breach with Paoli when the latter refused to help him overturn the results. Napoleon strove to restore Joseph to Paoli’s favour, but to no avail.27 Only Napoleon now stood between the family and the loss of its powerful patron. Paoli and Napoleon still shared much in common, a loyalty to France and the Revolution, but Napoleon had a growing unease at its course, for the events of 10 August had left a deep impression on him of mob violence and the seeming willingness of the radicals to be led by it. For his part, Paoli was becoming angry at the growing accusations of treason against him in Paris by a regime he felt was acting irrationally.


Early in 1793, shortly after the entry of Britain into the war, the government ordered French forces in Corsica to invade Sardinia, in an effort to dislodge the British from their friendly bases there. It seemed a perfect opportunity for Paoli to prove his patriotism and for Napoleon to distinguish himself. In fact, it proved the undoing of both of them.


The revolutionaries had regarded Sardinia as a threat for some time, before Britain entered the war, as it was ruled by the House of Savoy, which was rabidly opposed to the new French Republic. A French fleet was sent to Ajaccio to ready for the invasion, but there was soon serious trouble between the sailors and the National Guard, in which Napoleon himself was almost killed by French volunteers from Marseille who were to be part of the invasion force. Paoli refused to release all but a handful of Corsican volunteers for the expedition, and those French forces which were delegated to the expedition proved of very poor quality. The whole force numbered barely 3,500 against 11,000 Sardinians. The French were commanded by Admiral Truguet, the only friendly figure among them as far as Napoleon and his men were concerned, for they spent more time fighting their compatriots than readying for a complex landing in combat conditions. Truguet was entertained and courted by the Buonaparte and other prominent families, as passing military commanders, Genoese or French, had always been in Ajaccio; he seems to have taken a shine to the sixteen-year-old Elisa, but she did not take the bait.28 Given what then happened, it was as well.


Truguet decided to use the Corsicans, with Colonna-Cesari, a former deputy, as second in command, to attack the small island of La Maddalena, as a separate unit from the main force. Napoleon commanded a small battery of three cannon. After several mishaps, they arrived off La Maddalena on 22 February, but only Colonna-Cesari and Napoleon with a handful of men actually landed; the rest refused to follow, afraid of the Sardinian galleys, of which, in fact, there were but two. Napoleon did indeed distinguish himself. In freezing rain, his small unit bombarded the main town of the island, San Stefano, for two days, 24−5 February, and reduced its batteries to silence. He drove the Sardinians back to a narrow corner of the island, but then the French ship supporting him withdrew. Fearing they would be abandoned, the main body of the Corsicans fell back to the beaches in panic. No one told Napoleon and his battery; he did not hear until late in the evening. After a vain attempt to save his guns and get them to the beaches, he spiked them and scrambled with his men into the very last boats. The recriminations that followed changed the fate of the Buonaparte family for ever.


The fiasco of Sardinia was used in Paris to brand Paoli a traitor, definitively. He was accused by Salicetti − a Corsican deputy close to the Buonaparte at home and to the most radical elements of the Revolution in Paris − of corruption in the preparations for the expedition. Salicetti was anxious not to be associated with Paoli in the face of a hostile government, and he took his protégés, Joseph and Lucien, along with him in this. Paoli, for his part, began to reconsider his position. Napoleon may now have been disabused of Paoli as an effective leader,29 but he rose to his defence when he was openly denounced in France.


Even before the expedition had set sail, on 5 February, the Convention had ordered Salicetti and three other commissioners to Corsica to investigate the situation on the island. They reached Toulon in early March, where they got their first news of the Sardinian fiasco, which only increased their suspicions that Paoli was a traitor.


In these same days, Napoleon experienced the first of many assassination attempts on his life, after a stormy meeting with Paoli. The attack was probably not Paoli’s work, but it was almost certainly that of his partisans in Corte. Napoleon had complained to Paoli that he had been left out of the new reorganisation of the island’s National Guard ordered by Paris in his absence. This was a sign of how exposed he now was, but worse was to come.


While Salicetti was in Toulon, he met with Lucien, who had become disaffected from Paoli and, away from Corsica, was inclined to believe what he heard from his fellow Jacobins. Lucien always denied it, but it seems certain he spoke out in the Toulon Jacobin club and denounced Paoli as a traitor to the Revolution. It was certainly in line with the order from Paris, of 2 April, to sack Paoli and dismantle the whole administration he had put in place; Pozzo di Borgo was tarred with the same brush as Paoli. This was the news Salicetti carried with him when he reached Bastia. After meeting Paoli in Corte, Salicetti hesitated, but on 18 April he made the orders from Paris public.


Every municipality in Corsica, from the remote interior to the presidii, rose as one to defend Paoli. It was an historic show of unity among all but a few Corsicans. Napoleon drew up the protest of the Ajaccio Jacobins himself, and risked his position with the government by joining Paoli in Corte, in defiance of direct orders to return to his regiment. However, at this very moment, the news broke that Lucien had been the instigator of the denunciation of Paoli in Toulon. Napoleon was, according to insular tradition, also a traitor to Paoli, and he fled Corte for Ajaccio on 30 April. The die had been cast for all time. The Buonaparte, a settler family within the walls of the presidio, now found itself the target of traditional highland vendetta. Napoleon reached Bocoagano on 5 May, where his family were the major landowners. He claimed he barely escaped from forty Paolisti bandits bent on killing him, but this seems unlikely. The village was loyal to the family and any such incursion would have been risky.30 A cousin guided him to Ajaccio by the back roads, and he found safe passage on a boat to Bastia, where he had no choice but to join with Salicetti and the other commissioners of the Convention. Once there, certainly by 9 May, his only thought was for the safety of his mother and the younger children still with her, and he was not wrong to emphasise the danger to them.


On 31 May, Paoli’s new assembly in Corte, the Consultà, now in open opposition to the government, proscribed the Buonaparte family as ‘born in the mud of despotism, nourished and raised high under the eye, and at the expense of a luxuriant Pasha, the late Marbeuf, to their perpetual infamy’.31 This was in the old insular tradition, meaning death on sight, if the family did not abandon all it owned and flee the island for at least seven generations. Not only the old ways, but the old enmities, revived as a result of revolutionary politics. However, traditional loyalties within the presidio held firm as well. Letizia fled Ajaccio on the night of 31 May, accompanied by a small group of friends, who got her the eight miles to her small property at Campitello. More tellingly, although the Buonaparte house had been sacked by National Guards from outside the town on 25 May, no one in Ajaccio tried to arrest her; she was the victim of mountain, insular barbarism, something alien to the presidio. When Letizia did return to Ajaccio, once things were safe again after the French expelled the British in 1796, she found her house, battered but still hers, and friends to help. For the moment, it was simply a matter of staying alive. At Campitello, Letizia was warned by a local bandit, Costa, that Paoli’s thugs were still after her; she shifted to another cottage, only to be warned to move on and get to the coast, where Napoleon had organised a French ship to transport his family to him in Calvi. Elisa took Pauline and Caroline by the hand, Letizia carried Jérôme in her arms, and they fled to the beaches, where they waited in the open until the rescue ship arrived on 2 June and took them to Napoleon, in Calvi. Nine days later, the Buonaparte sailed for Toulon. Corsica was over for them. Napoleon remembered Costa in his will.


The flight from Corsica amounted to a bitter rejection for Napoleon, as well as a trauma, and it has often been regarded as the point at which he became wholly ‘French’, as a reaction to being, literally, chased from his homeland under threat of death. Had it not been for Lucien’s rashness in Toulon, it is hard to know what Napoleon would have done when Salicetti and his colleagues from Paris attempted to force the hand of all Corsicans, but it is clear that Napoleon’s reaction to the vendetta placed upon his whole family destroyed in him his romantic, quite irrational faith in ‘Corsica’ as he had come to believe in it: a fusion of his own world of the presidii and that of the mountains, into one people. There were two cultures, after all, and he had been victimised by the traditional ‘other’ his forebears had shunned, despised and yet feared for centuries. It did not require a complete embracing of France to see this, and his assimilation into French culture was far from complete in the summer of 1793.




*





Napoleon had embraced the radical wing of the Revolution; he had absorbed the military values and daily life of the army of the old monarchy; he continued to crave entry into its more intellectual salons. The next three years would show how alien Napoleon still found some elements of French society, however, and how much he had to learn about the France of normal, bourgeois life that he found in Marseille among the Clary family. He could not wholly embrace what he did not yet know. He could, and did, reject what he had come to see as alien and barbaric. By turning away from the world of Paoli and the mountains, Napoleon partly reverted to his natural type, that of the settler elite of the presidio; he cast his lot with the French and ‘civilisation’. There would soon be more to this. Before long, Napoleon detected the vices of the Corsican interior in the back country of southern France in his new postings and, as his own rule spread across the western Mediterranean in the years to come, this drove his views of the whole region: civilisation was a thing of the towns, the plains and the coasts; barbarism still pervaded the mountains and its peoples. The hard, time-worn lessons of the Ajaccio elite became the given of a new imperialism.


For now, ‘civilisation’, in the form of the French Revolution, was running for its life from Corsica. Salicetti followed the Buonaparte in flight, along with the other commissioners, on 21 June. For his part, Paoli was now isolated too, in his own way. He had broken with the Corsican counter-revolutionaries, who were loyal to the Bourbons, and with the presidio elites, but he was now also an outlaw, condemned as a counter-revolutionary by the National Convention. He was thrown back on his core support, the ‘insulars’, and soon turned to the British, who took over the island in the following months. Bastia, Ajaccio and Calvi held out for a time into the autumn of 1793, as much against Paoli and the ‘insulars’ as against the British, but they fell, inevitably, cut off from all support. Unable to control the unrest of the highlands, and abandoned by Pozzo di Borgo and the urban collaborators who had rallied to him for a time, Paoli came to be seen by the British as a liability, and he departed into a self-imposed, final, exile in London in October 1795, a bitter man.32 For all that, it was a far more comfortable banishment than the one he had imposed on the Buonaparte.


THE REFUGEES


On 13 June 1793, the Buonaparte were washed up on the shores of the Riviera their ancestors had left three centuries before. They returned, penniless and homeless, to the mainland those two mounted crossbowmen Francesco Buonaparte and Gabriele Ramolino had set out from on their great gamble. They had been the victims of the collective nightmare of the people of the presidii, namely the vendetta of the ‘insulars’. It had happened at last, and it had happened to them. Generations of careful accumulation, begun by the bold risks taken by the first men-at-arms on the frontier, had collapsed in the fury of the spring of 1793, all because of Lucien’s carelessness. Six years later, his brother’s capacity to speak first and think later would set Napoleon on the path to supreme power, but for now he had, almost single-handed, undone three hundred years’ work. Lucien had gambled by entering the bear pit of revolutionary politics and lost, dragging the family with him. Elisa’s school had been closed in the midst of the September massacres, and her prospects – the brightest possible for a girl of modest means at that time – had vanished. Now, their properties sacked and lost, all the large family had to live on was Napoleon’s meagre pay. They were a colonial garrison no more, poorer immigrants than their forebears, at the mercy of a country in the throes of a bloodbath.


The France they had landed in was the least safe place in the western world in the summer of 1793, and about to get worse. The fall of the monarchy on 10 August 1792 had ushered in a period of tension between the factions in the newly elected National Convention, created to replace the government set up in 1791. Although all united in support of a republican regime and were opposed to any return to the old order, the new deputies soon clashed over the conduct of the war, what to do with Louis – who was eventually executed early in 1794 – and the details of the new constitution the Convention was drawing up. Above all, they vied for the support of the armed local government committees of Paris, the Sections, which led to yet more bitter infighting. This tangled web was reflected in the towns and cities of the provinces, as local clubs and municipalities split along the lines drawn in Paris, grafting their own, parochial quarrels on to those of the capital. In the spring of 1793, the pressures erupted into open violence almost independently in the large southern cities of Bordeaux, Lyon, Toulon and Marseille, and in Paris. The more radical factions of the Convention coalesced around a group centred on Maximilien Robespierre to overthrow the leading ministers in the government, led by Brissot, and their more prominent supporters in the Convention, known as either ‘Brissotins’ for their leader, or ‘Girondins’ because some of them sat for the Bordeaux area, the Gironde department. Among the deputies executed or driven out by the Robespierrist faction – known as the ‘Mountain’ because they sat on the highest benches in the assembly chamber – were those from Marseille and Toulon, which crystallised the political divisions in these cities and produced violent confrontations in the late spring and early summer of 1793. This was the world the Buonaparte now found themselves in.


This was far from the whole of it, however. Now firmly in control of the Convention, the Mountain seized control of the machinery of government, such as it was, and galvanised it, first to arrest the tide of the war, which was running against France, and then to quash both the new civil war in the south, and the growing counter-revolutionary opposition in the countryside, as peasant communities rose in revolt against the Convention’s new policy of mass conscription. The policy the Mountain evolved to confront this crisis was called, without nuance or a shade of irony, ‘the Terror’, for, as one its spokesmen, Saint-Just, declared − drawing directly on Rousseau − the French were to be forced to be free.


There was much Napoleon found to admire in all this. The sheer energy and determination of the Terrorist government, its ability to organise and mobilise even the most recalcitrant sectors of society in a national war effort, all enthused him. The Mountain waged a ruthless, pitiless war on that other ‘mountain’ Napoleon had come to see in Corsica as the enemy of civilisation, as well as on its own rivals within the Revolution, and the vestiges of the old order. However, the Terror also meant a stifling, dangerous political correctness, the emergence of a police state of denunciation and counter-denunciation, a disregard for the rule of law and, ironically, an inclination to mob rule when the support of the Parisian Sections or their local equivalents in the provinces was needed. The Terror built a society of fear and potential anarchy, yet it was manifestly saving the new France from destruction. Napoleon learned many things from this particular period of the Revolution, and he lived in tension with its contradictory messages for the rest of his life: the need for authoritarianism to confront crises or even to enact great reforms; the dangers of pandering to public opinion; the importance of the rule of law, juxtaposed to the possibilities of real power. For the foreseeable future, however, the Buonaparte had to weather this storm as best they could.




*





The Buonaparte found shelter and support from three very different sources. Joseph and Lucien had made friends and contacts in the Jacobin clubs of the Provençal cities of Toulon and Marseille, and they used them. The war and the internal civil war now raging soon offered Napoleon chances for more rapid advancement than even he had dared dream of only a year earlier, and he took them. Quite separately, and seemingly a world away from the turmoil the boys were exploiting, the Buonaparte girls found their way into the friendship of the wealthy Clary family, who became central to their lives. Every member of the family had a part to play in helping to set this bedraggled immigrant household on its way in a new world, but every one of these connections led them into yet more danger.


The Buonaparte were now in the hands of the very men − and the very revolutionary faction − whose precipitate actions had broken their links to Paoli and led to the violent loss of all they possessed. Salicetti, still influential in the Jacobin clubs of Toulon and Marseille, and now bound to Lucien since the latter’s rash denunciation of Paoli in the cause of the Jacobins and the Convention, did what he could for Letizia and the younger children. They soon moved to Marseille, where Joseph, through his own Jacobin connections, had found a post. Napoleon was promoted and posted to Nice, while Salicetti’s lobbying in Paris had acquired a fund for the relief of Corsican exiles, from which Letizia received some help.


However, the family had only escaped from the frying pan of Corsica into the fire of the French Midi, which was about to become the arena for the next phase of revolutionary civil war. Both Toulon and Marseille erupted into violence as pro- and anti-Convention factions tore the cities apart over Robespierre’s ruthless purge of those of their deputies whom he suspected of wanting to broker a peace with the Allies, among many other things. The anti-Robespierre factions won control of both cities, and the family – now inextricably bound to the Jacobins through Salicetti and Lucien, whatever Napoleon thought of the events of 10 August 1792 that brought them to power – found itself almost as endangered by their associations with the Jacobins as they had been in Corsica. One set of difficulties had been traded for another, but in this case the Convention was in a position to counter-attack, and did so.


Early in July 1793, Napoleon was ordered from Nice to Avignon to pick up gunpowder and other supplies for his unit. He arrived to find the city falling into the hands of the advancing anti-Convention forces of Marseille, now dubbed ‘the Federalists’ by the government in Paris because they were accused of trying to destroy the unity of the Republic. Napoleon claimed at the time and afterwards that they tried to arrest him, although there is no proof of this. What is certain is that his own side, the forces of the Convention sent to take retake Avignon under Carteaux, did arrest him on suspicion of being a noble, something his father would have been proud of even had it cost Napoleon his life. He was vouched for by Salicetti and allowed back to Nice.


Napoleon responded to this, not with anger – he was probably too shaken – but by writing a pamphlet based on a meeting he had had in the nearby town of Beaucaire with several merchants, hence its title, ‘Supper at Beaucaire’. Its pro-Convention tone was obviously part of a pragmatic effort to clear himself after the fright of his arrest, but the essay should not be lightly dismissed as simply opportunist. Napoleon sees strong, central direction as all that can hold the French state together and preserve the gains of the Revolution, and castigates the ‘Federalists’, less for their politics than their refusal to see the risks they are running. Unity in the face of the threat of a triumphant counter-revolution of savage peasants led by vicious nobles and clergy was the only way. This became the cornerstone of much of his own policies in the years ahead: however brutal first the Convention, and then Napoleon himself might have to be, the alternative was unthinkable, even for people who thought they were royalists.


In ‘Supper at Beaucaire’, Napoleon has two characters, men from Marseille, argue foolishly that it might be better to bring in the British – as Paoli had done – until the Convention was made to see sense. The pamphlet made no impact at the time, but his two fools turned out to be prophets, for that is what the Toulon ‘Federalists’ actually did, a few weeks later, offering up the city to Admiral Lord Hood’s fleet on 27 August, so enabling him then to bring in about 17,000 Allied troops to secure it.


Marseille proved an easier task for the forces of the Convention, however, and Napoleon was probably with Carteaux when the Convention’s forces retook it, two days before the defection of Toulon. Although Marseille fell without serious resistance, and the Convention did little to persecute more than a handful of the ‘Federalist’ leaders, Carteaux’s ill-disciplined volunteers – composed of Marseille Jacobins and Parisian militants – wreaked havoc in the first weeks of September. This provided Napoleon and the other professional officers there with yet another sickening example of popular excess, to add to a growing catalogue.


The Buonaparte were to have their own experience of mob violence in the near future. The city, unleashed, was as cruel and savage as the Corsican Mountain. When the obligatory, ‘politically correct’ vengefulness of ‘Supper at Beaucaire’ is stripped away, the events of 1793 can be seen to have ingrained in Napoleon’s mind, for ever, the conviction that the society he lived in could only advance under a strong, centralised state.


Real war, its challenges and opportunities, soon presented itself to Napoleon with the need to retake Toulon. For the first of many occasions, the prospect of active service in proper military conditions must have seemed a relief from the madness of populism and politics. Napoleon had returned to Nice after the fall of Marseille, but the incompetence of the Convention’s commanders before Toulon, with no experience in siege warfare or grasp of gunnery, soon exposed the operation to disaster in the face of the well-honed expertise of the Royal Navy. Salicetti remembered Napoleon and, with help from his colleague Augustin Robespierre, younger brother of Maximilien, Napoleon took command of what passed for the French artillery at Toulon. He may have been a political appointment – there was no other sort at this time – but he now put all his training and the combat experience acquired in Sardinia to full use, impressing all around him, some to the point of jealousy. Even historians often disparaging of Napoleon admit he displayed exceptional ability as an artillery commander in the field during the siege, and that he shone even more as an organiser.


THE SIEGE OF TOULON


Toulon was the chief French naval base on the Mediterranean coast, and was one of the best-defended ports in Europe. With its harbour now held by the British fleet, and its inland batteries manned by its well-trained crews, retaking it was a daunting task. The troops sent to do so by the Convention could not have been more ill-suited to the task: most were local volunteers, with little or no military training, and their commander, Carteaux, was, in Philip Dwyer’s perfect pen-portrait, ‘a good choice when it came to brutal reprisals against local populations in revolt … but … incompetent in matters of siege warfare’.33 The deputies of the Convention present at Toulon, Salicetti and Augustin Robespierre among them, could not tolerate him, particularly when he began to frustrate the initiatives Napoleon was trying to undertake, after his arrival there in mid-September. They gave Napoleon independent command of the artillery and promoted him to major, and he galvanised the pitiful force he found. The deputies of the Convention who bestowed this independence on Napoleon did him one of the greatest services of his life: by recognising his talent and giving him his head to use it, they reminded him what the Revolution was supposed to be about, the promotion of merit. It was a principle with which Napoleon imbued his own regime, at the level of policy, but it was also enshrined in how he treated his subordinates, the men and some women (like two of his sisters and his second wife). They were all potentially people who could be delegated to, trusted, and brought on, on the basis of their abilities.


Once he was left to himself, Napoleon proved as energetic as he was resourceful, scouring the surrounding area for more ordnance, harrying the local authorities for supplies of gunpowder, setting up a foundry manned by skilled workers he requisitioned from Marseille, and putting his military education to use by organising an artillery park along the lines of the professional royal army. He used naked threats of terror against many local authorities to get what he wanted: Valence, recently implicated in the Federalist revolt, was reminded of this in thinly veiled terms, for example.34 Napoleon soon conceived a dislike and distrust of Provence that he never lost. It was a nest of reaction, of counter-revolution, not unlike the Corsican interior.


Starting with a couple of mortars, four cannon and a few light field guns manned by untrained volunteers, Napoleon forged a force to be reckoned with.35 Somehow, he collected more and more large guns – 24-pounders – and long-range mortars fit for siege warfare; he searched out retired army artillery officers in the area and set them to work. He filled the ranks by retraining regular infantry intensively, under his direct supervision. This was not without its frustrations: wrong size shells arrived from Marseille; mortar tubes were made but until he intervened no one had thought about their ammunition. Nevertheless, by early November, he had a hundred cannon and siege mortars, regular supplies of ammunition, and good gunners. They were well placed and sited, all thanks to Napoleon, in positions to cause the city and the British fleet maximum damage, given the positions the French held. Napoleon also showed flashes of the charisma he later made his own. One battery was in an especially dangerous, exposed position, where casualties were higher than average: he put up a placard there, naming it ‘the battery of the fearless’. It became a much-sought-after posting from then on.36 On 30 November, he proved himself a frontline commander when he led the successful repulse of an Allied assault on the French positions. He claimed he had captured the commander of the Allied ground forces himself, although this seems unlikely. He had no need to gild the lily, however, for Dugommier, his new commander, praised him highly in his dispatches, even if he could not spell his name.37 He pounded Toulon and its harbour for twenty hours a day, day in, day out. It was superhuman effort, if on a small scale. He was still only twenty-four.


Toulon was too major a position to be reduced by artillery alone, and the deputies, vociferously prompted by Napoleon, persuaded Paris to replace Carteaux with a professional soldier, Dugommier. The besiegers were soon reinforced by a brigade of experienced troops, under André Masséna, older than and senior to Napoleon, who would become one of his finest commanders. The deputies at Toulon also included Paul Barras, another who would soon exercise a profound professional and personal influence on Napoleon’s life. At Toulon, Barras, Augustin Robespierre and Salicetti proved more than useful to Napoleon, for they knew talent when they saw it, admitted they knew nothing of military affairs and left him alone to do his work, as they now also did with Dugommier and Masséna, while ensuring they got what they needed from Paris.


The key to Toulon was Fort Eguilette, because it controlled the entrance to the harbour. If it could be taken by the French, the British fleet would have to withdraw or become trapped in the harbour, the city would be cut off from its only source of supplies – the sea – and would soon fall. It looked easy on paper, and this plan had long been discussed, but only through Napoleon’s efforts with the artillery and Dugommier’s ability as the overall commander could it have any chance of success. Napoleon sent the plan, reworked considerably by himself, to Paris and passed it off as all his own work, a ploy both self-serving and politically astute, as he had become the commander-on-the-ground most trusted by the government.38 When the big French assault came, it was a combined effort. The attack began on 17 December, three days after Masséna’s arrival. Six thousand troops under Murion stormed Fort Mulgrave, supported by an intense artillery bombardment directed by Napoleon; it was taken, for the heavy loss of a thousand men; a few hours later, Masséna’s fresh troops took Fort d’Artigues. The key, if less well-defended Fort Eguillette was left to Napoleon, who proved himself again an able and very brave field commander, not just a skilled gunner. He had a horse shot from under him and received a bayonet wound in the leg, but carried on to seize the position, get his own guns in place, and soon had ten cannon trained on the inner harbour. When he opened a murderous fire on the British ships in harbour, Admiral Lord Hood, the commander-in-chief at Toulon, ordered a general evacuation. It was over. Dugommier was rightly praised at the time as the hero of Toulon, but no one minimised Napoleon’s contribution. It had been vital, and a tribute to his professionalism, leadership and initiative.


What followed the fall of Toulon was anything but heroic, and disgusted both Napoleon and most of the other professional officers present. As at Marseille, the political commissioners sought and took savage revenge on the ‘infamous city’, not only unleashing the ill-disciplined volunteers on its population, but opening the prisons for the same vengeful purpose. There were appalling scenes on the quais, as civilians scrambled in vain to get on to the departing British ships – which still managed to evacuate over 7,000 people – as Napoleon’s battery at Eguilette rained down an indiscriminate fire that sank four ships containing fleeing women and children.39 It is doubtful that he targeted the helpless deliberately, for they were embarked on well-gunned warships, but the terror unleashed on Toulon by the deputies was only too well calculated. Sidney Smith, one of the British commanders at Toulon, tried to inculpate Napoleon in these atrocities, but his accusations are dubious, to say the least.40 It is indisputable that, along with other officers, Napoleon attempted to mitigate the worst of the slaughter.
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